INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{"} \times 9^{"}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

I MI[®]

•

NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI

.

POSTPRANDIAL PLASMA ACYLATION STIMULATING PROTEIN RESPONSE AND FAT METABOLISM IN POST-OBESE WOMEN

A COMPANY OF A COM

MAY FARAJ

SCHOOL OF DIETETICS & HUMAN NUTRITION MCGILL UNIVERSITY, MONTREAL

JULY 1999

A Thesis submitted to the faculty of Graduate Studies & Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters of Science

© MAY FARAJ, 1999



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre réference

Our file Notre reférence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-55054-0

Canadä

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start by expressing my sincere appreciation and gratefulness to the team of The Mcgill Nutrition Center at the Royal Victoria Hospital, in particular to Dr. Réjeanne Gougeon and Dr. José Morais, for their kind and generous supports in the measurement of indirect calorimetry. And to my dear friend Tina, I send my love, for those traditional Sunday nights phone calls and for all those laughs... I am also thankful to the team of Dr. Peter Jones Laboratory at Macdonald Campus where the measurement of stable isotope was conducted. To Nirupa, J' Ying, Fady and Andrea thank you for your time and effort in showing me how all those valves and switches work! And to the rest of my friends at Mac, I am glad we shared this journey together, there was light at the end of the tunnel after all...

I deeply appreciation the support and encouragement of my team at The Cardiovascular Research Unit at the Royal Victoria Hospital, and acknowledge the help of Steve in the measurement of plasma acylation stimulating protein. And to Magda, Thea, and Zujin I send my deepest thanks for always being there. Moreover, I truly appreciate the kind guidance and support of my co-supervisor Dr. Peter Jones and my committee member Dr. NG-Kwai-Hang through out this journey. And finally, I am mostly grateful to Dr. Allan Sniderman and my dear supervisor Dr. Katherine Cianflone. Thank you for all your challenge, trust, guidance, and most of all your friendship... God blesses you.

And to all the ladies who participated in this study, a sincere thank you...

I could not have done it with out you.

DEDICATION

My mother, my father, my sister and brother, all that

I am and will ever be I owe to you.

To you I dedicate this...

ABSTRACT

Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) is a plasma protein that significantly increases adipose tissue fat storage. *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have suggested a role for plasma ASP in enhancing postprandial plasma triglyceride (TG) clearance. The primary objective of this study was to examine, for the first time, the postprandial response of plasma ASP and the fate of an exogenous fat source in 8 post-obese and 8 matched control women. This was done through following ¹³C-labeled high fat breakfast meal (1062 Cal, 67 % fat) every 2 hours for 8 hours in 3 plasma pools and in expired breath CO₂. The 3 plasma pools were: TG fraction in triglyceride rich lipoproteins (TRL) with sedimentation factor S_f > 400 (referred to as chylomicron-TG), TG fraction in TRL with S_f = 20 - 400 (referred to as VLDL-TG), and plasma free fatty acid (FFA). The secondary objective was to examine fasting and postprandial resting energy expenditure (REE), thermic effect of food (TEF), carbohydrate to fat oxidation rate and insulin sensitivity, which are factors that have been implicated in the tendency of post-obese women to regain weight.

The post-obese and control women had similar fasting and postprandial plasma ASP concentrations as well as similar postprandial percent plasma ASP change from baseline. In addition, the two groups had similar fasting and postprandial REE, TEF, carbohydrate to fat oxidation rate, serum insulin concentration, and plasma FFA concentration. Moreover, there was no difference between the two groups in total plasma TG clearance, ¹³C clearance from plasma VLDL-TG pool or percent recovered ¹³C in breath CO₂. However, postprandially, the post-obese women had lower glucose

ļ

IV

concentration and faster clearance of the TG fraction in plasma chylomicron and VLDL. The greatest difference between the two groups however was in the fractionation of the labeled FFA between plasma circulation and tissue uptake. Although, the post-obese women had a faster clearance of ¹³C from plasma chylomicron-TG pool, ¹³C concentration in plasma FFA pool remained similar at all postprandial time points to fasting non-enriched values, and was therefore lower than that in the control women whose plasma FFA ¹³C concentration increased markedly.

This study casts light on a novel finding of metabolic differences that exist in the post-obese women. These differences are represented by an enhanced plasma clearance of the exogenous fat source, which is indicated by a faster hydrolysis of the circulating TRL accompanied by a faster tissue uptake of the generated FFA. These findings are compatible with an increased sensitivity to insulin and the ASP pathway.

Résumé

Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) est une protéine plasmatique qui augmente significativement l'entreposage des lipides dans le tissu adipeux. Les études in vivo et in vitro ont suggéré que le rôle pour l'ASP plasmatique est d'augmenter le taux d'élimation des triglycérides (TG) plasmatiques. L'objectif primaire de cette étude est d'examiner, pour la première fois, la résponse post-prandiale d'ASP et l'utilization finale des lipides provenant d'une source exogène contrôlée en graisses chez 8 femmes post-obèse jumelées à 8 femmes contrôles. Suite à l'ingestion d'un déjeûner riche en graisses liées avec ¹³C (1062 calories, 67% gras), l'étude suit l'évolution des lipides dans 3 fractions plasmatiques et dans le CO₂ expiré par la respiration, et ce chaque 2 heures durant 8 heures au total. Ces trois fractions sont: la fraction TG dans les lipoprotéines riches en TG (TRL) avec un facteur de sédimentation $S_f > 400$ (fait référence à chylomicron-TG), la fraction TG dans les TRL avec $S_f = 20 - 400$ (fait référence à VLDL-TG), et les acides gras libres plasmatiques (FFA). Le deuxième objectif est d'éxaminer différents facteurs impliqués dans la tendance à regagner du poids chez les femmes post-obèse comme: la dissipation d'énergie au repos (REE) à jeun et post-prandialement, l'effect thermique généré par la nouriture (TEF), le taux d'oxidation des lipides par rapport aux hydrates de carbon, ainsi que la sensibilité à insuline.

Les femmes post-obèse et contrôles ont des concentrations plasmatiques d'ASP à jeun et post-prandiales similaires, et un changement relatif (%) en ASP similaire par rapport aux niveaux à jeûn. Il n'y a pas de différence entre les deux groupes pour: REE à jeun et post-prandiale, TEF, le taux d'oxidation des lipides par rapport aux hydrates de carbone, les concentrations plasmatiques de FFA, et les concentrations sériques

d'insuline. En plus, il n'y a pas de différence pour le taux délimation dans le plasma des triglycérides totaux, l'élimination de ¹³C dans la fraction plasmatique VLDL-TG, ainsi que pour le pourcentage recouvré de ¹³C dans le CO₂ expiré. Par contre, dans la phase post-prandiale, les femmes post-obèse ont des taux de glucose inférieurs. A cela, s'ajoute un taux d'éliminination plus rapide de la fraction TG dans les chylomicrons et les VLDL. La plus grande différence est dans le fractionement de ¹³C-FFA entre la circulation plasmatique et l'absorption par le tissu. Même si les femmes post-obèse ont un taux d'élimination plus rapide de ¹³C dans la fraction plasmatique des chylomicrons-TG, les concentrations de ¹³C dans les FFA plasmatiques demeurent constant mais augmentent dramatiquement chez les femmes contrôles.

Les données de cette étude mettent en lumière une découverte innovatrice sur les différences métaboliques qui existent chez les femmes post-obèse. Ces différences sont réprisentées par une augmentation de l'élimination des lipides provenant d'une source exogène, ce qui est indiquée par une hydrolyse rapide des TRL en circulation accompagnée d'une absorption plus rapide des FFA générés. Ces résultats sont compatibles avec une sensibilité accrue envers l'insuline et l'ASP et ses implications métaboliques.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations were used through out the thesis:

ASP	Acylation stimulating protein
AUC	Area under the 8 hours time curve
BMI	Body mass index
BSA	Body surface area
CHYLO	Chylomicron
FFA	Free fatty acids
FFM	Free fat mass
HDL-C	High density lipoprotein cholesterol
hr	Hours
Ht	Height
IR/MS	Isotopic ratio mass spectrometer
LDL-C	Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
LPL	Lipoprotein Lipase
min	Minutes
NIDDM	Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus
PDB	Pee Dee Belmnite
REE	Resting energy expenditure
SD	Standard deviation

SEM	Standard error of the mean
Sr	Sedimentation factor
TEF	Thermic effect of food
TG	Triglyceride
TRL	Triglyceride rich lipoproteins
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
W/H ratio	Waist/hip ratio
Wt	Weight

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1.	Baseline Characteristics of the Post-Obese Women	
	on the Day of the Study	42
Table 2.	Baseline Characteristics of the Control Women	
	on the Day of the Study	43
Table 3.	Correlation Between the Area Under the Curve of Selected	
	Parameters of the Post-Obese and Control Groups	68

LIST OF FIGURES

The following Figures show fasting and postprandial values of the post-obese and control groups, following ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal, for:

Figure 1.	Resting Energy Expenditure per Hour	45
Figure 2.	Carbohydrates/Fat oxidation Rate	47
Figure 3.	Plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein Concentration	49
Figure 4.	Percent Change in Plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein	
	Concentration from Baseline	49
Figure 5.	Serum Insulin Concentration	50
Figure 6.	Serum Glucose Concentration	51
Figure 7.	Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentration Product	52
Figure 8.	Total Plasma Triglyceride Concentration	53
Figure 9.	Plasma Triglyceride Concentration in Chylomicron	54
Figure 10.	Plasma Triglyceride Concentration in Very Low Density	
	Lipoprotein	55
Figure 11.	Plasma Free Fatty Acid Concentration	57
Figure 12.	Percent Recovered ¹³ C in Breath CO ₂ per Hour	59

Page

Figure 13.	¹³ C Concentration in the Triglyceride Fraction of Plasma	
	Chylomicron Pool	61
Figure 14.	¹³ C Concentration in the Triglyceride Fraction of Plasma	
	Very Low Density Lipoprotein Pool	62
Figure 15.	¹³ C Concentration in Plasma Free Fatty Acid Pool	64
Figure 16.	¹³ C Concentration in Total Plasma Compartment	66

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	S	Π
DEDICATION		III
Abstracts		IV
List of Abbreviations	······	VIII
List of Tables		x
List of Figures		XI

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

I. 1. Literature Review

	I. 1. 1. Obesity
	I. I. I. Background 1
	I. 1. 1. 2. Health Risks
	I. 1. 2. Weight Loss
	I. 1. 2. 1. Health Benefits
	I. 1. 2. 2. Problems with Maintenance of Lost Weight
	I. 1. 3. Acylation Stimulating Protein
	I. 1. 3. 1 Characterization
	I. 1. 3. 2. Regulation of Triglyceride Synthesis 11
	I. 1. 3. 3. Role in Postprandial Triglyceride Clearance
I. 2. S	tudy Rationale

I. 3. Study Objectives and Hypotheses	
---------------------------------------	--

CHAPTER TWO METHODS & PROCEDURES

II. 1. Study Population

II. 1. 1. Inclusion Criteria 19)
II. 1. 2. Matching Criteria 20)
II. 1. 3. Recruitment and Sample Size	•
II. 2. Study Design and Intervention	
II. 3. Analysis and Measurements	
II. 3. 1. Anthropometric Measurements	7
II. 3. 2. Resting Energy Expenditure, Thermic effect of Food and	
Carbohydrate/fat Oxidation Rate Measurements	}
II. 3. 3. Blood Parameter Measurements)
II. 3. 3. 1. Plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein Concentration 30)
II. 3. 3. 2. Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentrations	l
II. 3. 3. 3. Plasma Lipid and Apolipoprotein B Concentrations 32	2
II. 3. 4. Stable Isotope Measurements	
II. 3. 4. 1. Breath Samples	5
II. 3. 4. 2. Blood Samples	7
II. 4. Statistical Analysis 39	;

CHAPTER THREE RESULTS

III. I. Subjects' Baseline Characteristics
III. 2. Metabolic Parameters
III. 2. 1. Resting Energy Expenditure per Hour 44
III. 2. 2. Thermic Effect of Food 46
III. 2. 3. Carbohydrate/Fat Oxidation Rate
III. 3. Blood Parameters
III. 3. 1. Plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein Concentration
III. 3. 2. Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentrations
III. 3. 2. 1. Serum Insulin Concentration 50
III. 3. 2. 2. Serum Glucose Concentration 51
III. 3. 2. 3. Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentration Product 52
III. 3. 3. Plasma Lipid Concentration
III. 3. 3. 1. Total Plasma Triglyceride Concentration 53
III. 3. 3. 2. Plasma Triglyceride Concentration in Chylomicron 54
III. 3. 3. 3. Plasma Triglyceride Concentration in Very Low Density
Lipoprotein 55
III. 3. 3. 4. Plasma Free Fatty Acid Concentration
III. 4. ¹³ C Enrichment
III. 4. 1. Breath Samples
III. 4. 2. Blood Samples
III. 4. 2. 1. Triglyceride Fraction of Plasma Chylomicron Pool 60

III. 4. 2. 2. Triglyceride Fraction of Plasma Very Low Density	
Lipoprotein Pool	62
III. 4. 2. 3. Plasma Free Fatty Acid Pool	63
III. 4. 2. 4. Total Plasma Compartment	65
III. 5. Correlation	67

CHAPTER FOUR DISCUSSION

Discussion 69

CHAPTER FIVE
REFERENCES

References		78
------------	--	----

	CHAPTER SIX APPENDICES
Appendix A.	Baseline Questionnaire
Appendix B.	Study Design 93

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

I. 1. Literature Review

I. 1. 1. Obesity

I.1.1.1. Background

Obesity, defined as body mass index (BMI= weight/height²) over 30 kg/m² is currently a common trait of Western countries [Hodge and Zimenet 1994]. Originally, obesity was never a health problem in the history of humankind nor has it been realistically plausible given the frequent food shortages. During episodes of famine and food scarcity, those who could effectively store energy were naturally selected as a consequence of the survival of the fittest. Genetic traits that favored obesity and promoted survival were selected too, particularly in the pregnant and nursing women. Fat storage, markedly around the lower abdomen would not only aid in the survival of the mother, but also is essential to that of her fetus, thus contributing to the preservation of the human species. In some rural cultures, "bride's fattening huts" still exist where brides spend days prior to their marriage consuming excess food so as to give them an earlier energy boost to last through the pregnancy period to follow [Ritenbaugh 1982].

Thus, obesity has its human biological and environmental roots in adapting to food shortage. However, with the advancement of civilization, food surplus and reliance on such energy saving inventions as motorized transport, lifts, escalators, computers and televisions, obesity has become an undeniable penalty of civilization. Progressively, humans have become one of the fattest species. This is graphically illustrated in that the Boeing's airplane designers have had to increase the assumed average passenger weight

1

by over 9 kg since its first flight. In the United States, the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II) on 3838 men and 4173 women estimated the prevalence of obesity (BMI \ge 30 kg/m²) in 1976 – 1980 to be 12% in both men and women, an increase of 1.2 percent points from NHANES I in 1971-1974 [National Center for Health Statistics 1981]. In Canada, the prevalence of obesity in the 1981 Canada Fitness Survey on 4831 men and 5448 women was 9% in men and 8% in women [Hodge and Zimenet 1994]. In a more recent study in 1992 on 17,858 Canadians between the age of 18-74 years, the prevalence of obesity with a BMI \ge 30 kg/m² was an alarming 15% in both men and women [Reeder et al. 1992]. Economic analysis attributes around 5% of the total health budgets of affluent countries to obesity. In the US, this has been estimated in the 1990's to be equivalent to an astonishing \$69 billion, \$45.5 billion of which are related to the direct cost of obesity associated disease [Wolf et al. 1994]. On the other hand, 2.4% of Canada's budget is spent on obesity related health problems [Birmingham et al. 1999].

L1.1.2. Health Risks

There are many causes for the development of obesity ranging from the purely genetic (e.g. Prader-Willi syndrome) through the purely environmental (e.g. pastry cooks and sweet shop owners) to the purely behavioral (e.g. Sumo wrestlers) [Prentice 1997]. Though treatment should therefore be tailored to the cause, obesity in most of its forms shares the same detrimental health risks. Obesity is associated with decreased longevity and increased morbidity from a variety of disorders and disease.

Non-Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus (NIDDM): It has long been recognized that obesity is a risk factor for NIDDM, and the World Health Organization

(WHO) study group has named obesity as the single most important factor in the development of NIDDM [World Health Organization 1985]. The risk of NIDDM increased with BMI above 30 kg/m² by 93-fold in women and 42-fold in men [Cham et al. 1994, Colditz et al. 1995]. Like obesity, NIDDM is associated with increased mortality and increased risk for various disorders, including hyperlipidemia, atherosclerosis of coronary, cerebral and peripheral vessels, and hypertension [Kissebah et al. 1989]. Approximately 80% of NIDDM individuals are obese and many obese individuals have NIDDM or impaired glucose tolerance [for review Kissebah and Krakower 1994].

Cardiovascular Disease: A number of cardiovascular risk factors are influenced by obesity including hypertension, impaired glycemic control, impaired haemostatic factors and dyslipidemia. Dyslipidemia is characterized by elevated plasma total cholesterol, triglyceride (TG), LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) and decreased HDL cholesterol (HDL-C), and elevated apolipoprotein B (ApoB) [Dattilo and Kris-Etherton 1992, for review Kissebah and Krakower 1994]. Moreover, cerebrovascular disease is common in the obese [Shinton et al. 1991]. It was believed that only severe obesity was associated with an increased risk of coronary heart disease. Recent findings, however, show a clear association with even the modest weight gain. In a recent 14-year prospective study on 114,281 female nurses aged 30-35 years old, who did not have NIDDM, coronary heart disease, stroke or cancer, Willet and colleagues showed that, compared to women with BMI < 25 kg/m², the risk of coronary heart disease was increased 2-fold in those women with BMI 25-28.9 kg/m² and 3.6-fold in those with BMI of greater than 29 kg/m² [Willet et al. 1995]. In males a 10% increase in weight will increase the risk of coronary heart disease by 38% whereas a 20 % rise corresponds to an increased risk of 86% [for review Jung 1997].

Other Related Disease: Obesity is also associated with a number of other health complications. A large American study has shown that the mortality rate for cancer was increased by obesity, manifested as colorectal and prostate cancers in men and endometrium, gallbladder, cervix, breast and ovary cancers in women [Garfinkel 1985]. Digestive problems are also elevated with obesity particularly liver abnormalities and gall bladder disease which increases 2.7 fold with obesity [Rimm et al. 1975, Klain et al. 1989]. In addition, endocrine changes in the obese are associated with a higher risk of obstetric complications, infertility and respiratory problems resulting in sleep apnea, hypoventilation, arrhythmias and eventually cardiac failure [for review Jung 1997].

Perhaps one aspect that is frequently missed when dealing with the detrimental consequences of obesity is the negative psychological effect. Obese individuals sustain chronic psychological stress. They suffer a lifetime of bullying and social castigation and isolation which result in prejudice and impaired opportunities in education, employment, marriage and even medical services. Surveys in the US during the 1970's showed that obesity rated worse than a criminal conviction for rape as an undesirable feature in a potential marriage partner. Fortunately, these attitudes are now changing, partially because most people have at least one family member who is obese [Prentice 1997]. Nevertheless, although the stress is reduced, this chronic psychological stress further adds to the deteriorating health of the obese and decreases their quality of life.

I. 1. 2. Weight Loss

L 1. 2. 1. Health Benefits

Weight loss decreases the prevalence of morbidity and mortality in the obese. Recent evidence indicates that weight loss of more than 9 kg in overweight women is associated with a 25% reduction in all causes of mortality (diabetic, cardiovascular and cancer). If the obese individual has already developed a weight associated disease then intentional weight loss of any amount has been shown to reduce mortality by 20% [Williamson et al. 1995].

Non-Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus (NIDDM): In the nurses' study of 114,281 healthy women, those who gained 8 to 11 kg increased their risk of developing NIDDM by 2.7-fold compared to those with a stable weight. On the other hand, a weight loss of 9 kg reduced the risk of developing NIDDM by more than 50% [Colditz et al. 1995]. Weight loss improves or even reverses the abnormalities of glucose and insulin associated with NIDDM and impaired glucose tolerance, as well as reversing hyperinsulinemia in obese non-diabetic individuals. In NIDDM patients, a 9 kg weight loss reduces mortality by 30-40% in overweight women [Williamson et al. 1995], whereas in another study, a 5% weight loss was found to reduce fasting blood glucose by 15% and glycosylated hemoglobin by 7% [Wing et al. 1990]. A weight loss of 10-20% in the NIDDM patients can normalize metabolic control and possibly life expectancy [Wing et al. 1990].

Cardiovascular Risk Factors: It has been demonstrated that a weight loss of 11 kg produced a 20% decrease in both systolic and diastolic pressure in hypertensive patients even when sodium intake was kept constant. And it has been suggested that as a

general rule, blood pressure is reduced by 1 mm systolic and 2 mm diastolic for each 1% reduction in body weight [Reisen et al. 1978]. On the other hand, a meta-analysis by Dattilo and Kris-Etherton of 70 published studies has indicated that for every kg of weight lost, there is a corresponding reduction of about 1% in total cholesterol and LDL-C, a rise of 1% in HDL-C and a reduction of 3% of TG [Dattilo and Kris-Etherton 1992]. Such data on blood pressure, lipids and other haemostatic factors most likely account for the reduction in morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular disease with the modest weight loss.

Other Related Disease: A 10 kg weight loss decrease deaths from obesity related cancers by 40-50% [Williamson et al. 1995]. In addition, weight loss improves respiratory function decreasing sleep hypoxia and apnoeic episodes, and relieves pain in the lower back, ankles and feet in the obese. Moreover, improved mirror image and self esteem are probably the most direct psychological effect of weight loss leading to improved physiological and social quality of life [for review Jung 1997].

I. 1. 2. 2. Problems with Maintenance of Lost Weight

Obesity with its cost to the individual's health and that of the society, is not a simple burden but rather a rampant disease. Weight loss is sought for its associated physiological and psychological benefits. However, weight loss is usually maintained with great difficulty, most of obese individuals who lose significant amount of weight regain it [Prentice 1997]. Hypotheses regarding regaining lost weight and the reestablishment of obesity have been extensively studied for decades, but findings are far from conclusive. There are two distinct schools of thought regarding this issue.

On one hand, there are those who propose that genetically determined predictors of obesity inevitably result in weight regain in post-obese individuals. Some studies have reported that, compared to normal never-obese matched individuals, post-obese individuals have a lower 24-hr metabolic rate. This was demonstrated at fasting basal metabolic rates [Shah et al. 1988, Ranneries et al. 1998], postprandially, expressed as the thermic effect of food (TEF) [Shah et al. 1988] and at all levels of physical activities [Geissler et al. 1987], even after correcting for differences in lean body mass. Some have also demonstrated that in order for post-obese to maintain a reduced weight, they must restrict their food intake to 25% less than anticipated, based on their metabolic body size [Rudolph et al. 1984]. In addition, Astrup and colleagues found that post-obese women had decreased fasting fat/carbohydrate oxidation rate, and failed to increase fat/carbohydrate oxidation rate when dietary fat content increased from medium fat (30%) to high fat diets (50%), indicating that the preferential source of energy is carbohydrate thus allowing more fat to be stored [Astrup et al. 1993, Astrup et al. 1994].

In a study looking at the 5-hr postprandial response of post-obese women and closely matched never-obese controls after ingestion of a high fat meal (50% energy from fat), although TEF was similar in the two groups, fat oxidation was suppressed postprandially in the post-obese women. Of interest, the postprandial plasma triglyceride (TG) concentration was decreased in the post-obese group and only amounted to 43% of that in the controls [Raben et al 1994]. In addition, it was demonstrated that the decreased fat oxidation in post-obese individuals was not due to reduced fat mobilization from adipose tissue, as glycerol release was identical to that in matched controls at resting and upon aerobic exercise. Rather, it was a consequence of the reduced fat utilization as

energy substrate by different tissues [Astrup et al. 1993, Ranneries et al. 1998]. In addition, upon weight loss, post-obese subjects were found to have higher insulin sensitivity, as they required less insulin for the same level of glycemia as matched control individuals [Ranneries et al. 1998]. Consequently, the shift in substrate utilization from fat to carbohydrate in the post-obese was explained as one aspect of improved insulin sensitivity and glucose uptake in glycolytic tissues [Franssila-Kallunki et al. 1992].

On the other hand, there are those who do not support the hypothesis that postobese have diminished energy expenditure and metabolic abnormalities. They believe that obesity and regaining lost weight result, quite simply, from overeating and decreased physical activity [Hervey and Tobin 1983, Weinsier et al. 1995]. In a prospective study on premenopausal obese women, although mean basal metabolic rate, thermic effect of food and fasting and postprandial substrate oxidation decreased after weight loss to normal BMI, they nevertheless were not significantly different from matched never obese subjects [Weinsier et al. 1995]. In other studies, neither the 24-hr energy expenditure, carbohydrate/ fat oxidation rate [Burstein et al. 1995], thermic effect of food nor energy expenditure during various controlled daily activities were different from those of matched never-obese subjects [de Peuter 1992]. In addition, findings regarding insulin sensitivity in post-obese are inconsistent. While Ranneries and colleagues showed an improved insulin sensi:ivity in post-obese women as compared to matched never-obese controls [Ranneries et al. 1998], the same group concluded in earlier studies that no significant difference existed [Astrup 1993, Toubro et al. 1994].

Discrepancies among different studies regarding fasting and postprandial energy expenditure, substrate oxidation and TEF were attributed to differences in body composition, meal size and composition, and length of study [Raben et al. 1993, Reed and Hill 1996]. Of interest, in a study looking at 131 TEF tests from a wide range of subjects ingesting meals of varying sizes and compositions suggested that the shape of REE curve may detect differences between the obese and their matched controls when the trapezoid AUC of the REE curve alone cannot, and that \geq 5 hr are required when measurement of TEF is attempted [Reed and Hill 1996]. Measurements that last for 4 hr only can miss up to 22.5% of actual TEF, and those that last for 3 hr only can miss 40%. Thus, when studying differences in TEF between obese individuals and their matched controls, the shorter the measurement of TEF, the more likely the differences would exist [Reed and Hill 1996], which may prove to be true when measurement of TEF is attempted to compare post-obese individuals, rather than obese, and their matched controls.

Clearly, there are opposing beliefs regarding the causes underlying the pronounced tendency of the post-obese to regain weight. We believe that there are indeed some metabolic differences associated with the post-obese state, which may be partially responsible for the facilitated weight regain in this group. However, we have investigated this question from a different perspective; that of an enhanced adipose tissue lipogenesis induced by the acylation stimulating protein pathway.

I. 1. 3. Acylation Stimulating Protein

I. 1. 3. 1. Characterization

Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) is a 76-amino acid basic protein, with a mass of 8,933 Dalton, which has been identified from human plasma. ASP markedly increases TG synthesis through fatty acids esterification in human adipocytes and skin fibroblasts [Cianflone et al. 1987, Cianflone et al. 1989, Baldo et al. 1993]. ASP is generated through the interaction of the complement factors B and D (or adipsin) with C3, which is then cleaved by the C3 convertase complex to generate C3a and C3b. ASP (C3a-desArg) is formed when the terminal arginine is removed from C3a by carboxypeptidase, which is present in excess in human plasma.

In vitro studies on mature adipocytes established that these cells possess mRNA for the three precursors of ASP, complement C3, adipsin and factor B, and at greater levels than in preadipocytes [Cianflone et al. 1994]. During adipocyte differentiation, increase in ASP production occurs after the increase in lipoprotein lipase (LPL) expression. However, TG synthetic capacity of these adipocytes significantly increases only following the increase in ASP production [Cianflone and Maslowska 1995].

On average, fasting plasma ASP is elevated with obesity, decreasing proportionally with weight loss [Sniderman et al. 1991, Cianflone et al. 1995, Maslowska et al. 1999]. In a study looking at fasting plasma ASP concentration in obese and nonobese individuals, it was found that fasting plasma ASP frequency distribution is skewed to the left in both groups [Maslowska et al. 1999]. In non-obese men (N = 82, age = 41 ± 11years, and BMI = 24.6 ± 3.2 kg/m², mean ± SD), median fasting plasma ASP concentration was 20.0 nM, with the 10th to 90th percentile between 10.9 to 38.8 nM. In non-obese women (N = 101, average age = 39 ± 11 , and BMI = 23.5 ± 3.5 kg/m², mean ± SD), median fasting plasma ASP concentration was 20.4 nM, with the 10th to 90th percentile between 14.5 to 40.8 nM). There is no statistically significant difference in median fasting plasma ASP concentration between non-obese men and women. On the other hand, in obese males (N = 12, average age = 41 ± 7 years, and BMI = 50.2 ± 15.0 kg/m², mean ± SD), median fasting plasma ASP concentration was 37.6 nM with the 10th to 90th percentile between 23.7 to 101.1 nM. In obese women (N = 42, average age = 41 ± 9 years, and BMI = 48.9 ± 8.5 kg/m², mean ± SD), median fasting plasma ASP concentration was 37.6 nM with the 10th to 90th percentile between 23.7 to 101.1 nM. In obese women (N = 42, average age = 41 ± 9 years, and BMI = 48.9 ± 8.5 kg/m², mean \pm SD), median fasting plasma ASP concentration was 1.9 fold higher in women than men [Maslowska et al. 1999].

I. 1. 3. 2. Regulation of Triglyceride Synthesis

In order for TG to be synthesized, a sequential coupling of three fatty acids to a glycerol-3-phosphate backbone is required. ASP affects both of these two components of the TG molecule, fatty acids as well as glycerol.

In vitro studies on isolated human adipocyte microsomes demonstrated that ASP had a significant effect on diacylglycerol acyltransferase, the last enzyme involved in TG synthesis, which adds a third fatty acid to the diacylglycerol, and which is believed to be the rate limiting step. ASP affected the maximal activity of diacylglycerol acyltransferase rather than affecting substrate delivery [Yasruel et al. 1991]. However, increased diacylglycerol acyltransferase activity will increase the rate at which fatty acids are incorporated in the cells to produce TG, and thus indirectly increase cellular fatty acid

uptake. In addition, both insulin and ASP were found to inhibit FFA release from fat cells, through stimulation of fractional FFA resterification, to the same extend by insulin and ASP, and by inhibition of FFA release during lipolysis, to a lesser extend by ASP than by insulin [Harmelen et al. 1999].

On the other hand, ASP has a direct effect on the transport of glucose, the precursor of glycerol, in cultured human skin fibroblasts [Germinario et al. 1993], human adipocytes [Maslowska et al. 1997], and rat muscle cells [Yuzhen et al. 1996]. This increase is both concentration and time dependent [Germinario et al. 1993, Cianflone et al. 1994]. ASP achieves this effect in the same manner as insulin, by causing translocation of glucose transporters (Glut 1, Glut 4, Glut 3) from intracellular vesicles to the cell surface, thereby increasing specific membrane glucose transport. The ASP effect on glucose transport in fibroblasts and muscle cells is independent of but additive to that of insulin, suggesting that they function *via* different mechanisms [Germinario et al. 1993, Yuzhen et al. 1996].

Insulin is less effective in stimulating glucose transport and TG synthesis when fat cell size increases with obesity [Ciaraldi et al. 1981, Kashiwagi et al. 1984]. However, unlike insulin, not only do adipocytes from morbidly obese subjects remain responsive to ASP [Walsh et al. 1989], but the extent to which adipocytes generate and are responsive to ASP is proportional to the degree to which they have accumulated TG mass during differentiation [Cianflone et al. 1994]. As it matures, the adipocyte increases expression of the elements of the ASP pathway, as well as the response to ASP through a positive feedback loop [Sniderman and Cianflone 1994]. Thus, as fat cells expand, as in the case of obesity, ASP may favor the maintenance of the enlarged cell size, and thus the maintenance of obesity.

I. 1. 3. 3. Role in Postprandial Triglyceride Clearance

After ingestion of fat, postprandial plasma TG usually peaks to ≥ 2 times its fasting level at 3 to 4 hr, returning to fasting levels at 6 to 10 hr [Karpe et al. 1992, Bergeron and Havel 1997]. Postprandial hyperglycemia is dose dependent. In studies where 20-40 g of fat was ingested, plasma TG and triglyceride rich lipoptoteins TG (TRL-TG) returned to near postprandial values (15-25% of baseline) 6 hr after food ingestion, but remained significantly higher (40-100%) at the same time point when 80-120 g of fat was ingested [Murphy et al. 1995]. As many *in vitro* studies demonstrate an effect of ASP on increasing FFA reesterification and TG synthesis in adipose cells, it was suggested that ASP might play a significant role in enhancing postprandial TG clearance through its effects on enhanced adipose tissue TG synthesis.

To study postprandial ASP response after a fatty meal, blood samples were obtained from 12 subjects, after ingestion of a mixed meal with 60 g of fat, from an arterialized hand vein and an anterior abdominal wall vein that drains subcutaneous adipose tissue. Data from this study demonstrated that ASP is produced postprandially, as there was a positive postprandial ASP veno-arterial gradient across a subcutaneous adipose tissue bed, with maximal production at 3 to 5 hr. In addition, there was a correlation between the veno-arterial ASP production and calculated FFA uptake into adipose tissue [Saleh et al. 1998]. To identify the specific postprandial plasma component that stimulated ASP production, physiological concentrations of glucose, FFA, VLDL, LDL and HDL were added to cultured human adipocytes. None had any substantial effect on ASP production, whereas insulin resulted in a 2-fold increase in ASP production [Maslowska et al. 1997]. However, chylomicrons added at physiological concentrations (TG = 0-0.56 mM) to the cultured human adipocytes produced up to a 150-fold increase in generation of ASP and its precursor protein, C3, the effect being both time and concentration dependent. Insulin enhanced the effect of chylomicron on ASP generation, again demonstrating the interaction between insulin and ASP. Further studies demonstrated that the active chylomicron component responsible for the increase in ASP and C3 production was a protein loosely associated with the lipoprotein particle, transthyretin [Scantlebury et al. 1998]. Of interest, in a study looking at the response of plasma ASP to prolonged fasting, as plasma ASP level decreased with fasting and weight loss, plasma free fatty acid (FFA) and ketone bodies rose significantly. In addition, there was an inverse relationship between fasting plasma ASP and FFA [Cianflone et al. 1995].

To date, these *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies established the role of plasma ASP on enhancing adipose tissue FFA uptake and TG synthesis and suggest a role for plasma ASP in postprandial plasma TG clearance and thus, in the maintenance of obesity.

I. 2. Study Rationale

After consumption of a high fat meal, triglyceride (TG) circulate in plasma in triglyceride rich lipoproteins (TRL) namely, chylomicron (CHYLO) and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) [Karpe et al. 1992, Bergeron and Havel 1997]. For the TRL to be cleared from plasma, two interconnected key processes are employed; hydrolysis of TG within the TRL core and uptake of the generated FFA into the peripheral tissues [Eckel et al. 1995]. Hydrolysis of TRL is regulated by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) [Karpe et al. 1992]. LPL is a secretory glycoprotein made in many tissues: adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, lactating mammary gland, and central nervous system [Eckel et al. 1995]. After its secretion, it is transported to the endothelial cells in the tissue of its origin where it is bound to the vascular endothelium through its affinity for heparin sulfate, and only low levels are present in plasma [Eckel 1989, Olivecrona and Bengtsson-Olivecrona 1990]. At the vascular endothelium, LPL acts on the core of the TRL hydrolyzing TG and releasing FFA and glycerol. Under normal metabolic condition, FFA released by the hydrolytic effect of LPL on TG are taken up to a larger extent by local tissue to meet the needs of that tissue, or circulate to other peripheral or hepatic tissues [Eckel et al. 1995].

Adipose tissue LPL activity is elevated in human obesity [Schwartz and Brunzell 1981]. One hypothesis suggests that elevated LPL is a primary defect in obesity that enhances the ability to "pull" TG into the cells. Although not conclusive, it has also been suggested that LPL activity rises further with weight loss [Schwartz and Brunzell 1981, Eckel and Yost 1987] and returns to lower, still elevated, values with weight regain [Schwartz and Brunzell 1981]. Further elevation of LPL with any weight drop tends to
enhance lipid clearance, increase TG storage, and restore the obesity state [Kern et al. 1990].

However, even with an enhanced LPL activity in the post-obese individuals, the rate of lipolysis cannot proceed beyond the limit of nearby cells to oxidize or store the FFA released. This should be expected given the potential toxicity of excess FFA concentrations on living cells. Excess plasma FFA impairs LPL activity causing both LPL and its activator apoliporptein-CII to detach from the endothelial wall, and lipolysis to diminish significantly [Peterson et al. 1990].

Therefore, we propose that there is a microenvironmental metabolic regulation of LPL activity on TG rich lipoprotein and FFA cellular uptake through the ASP pathway [Sniderman and Cianflone 1994]. ASP enhances the second step in TRL clearance by increasing normal FFA plasma clearance and intracellular esterification to form TG [Cianflone et al. 1987, Yasruel et al. 1991, Baldo et al. 1993]. As long as individuals have a normal ASP function, FFA released by the action of LPL on postprandial TRL will be cleared from the capillary space and LPL will continue to function. However, an exaggerated postprandial ASP response, manifested by increased plasma ASP concentration or increased cell sensitivity to ASP, will accelerate the rate at which FFA are taken up into the cells, preventing excess FFA from accumulating, and allowing LPL activity to proceed.

In North America, an average person consumes at least 3 meals per day, with fat contributing to 35-40% of the total daily caloric intake [for review Golay and Bobbioni 1997]. This excess daily high fat intake along with an ASP enhanced postprandial cellular

FFA uptake and TG storage, could indeed sustain a constant push to store the exogenous fat, thus contributing to weight regain in the post-obese individuals.

I. 3. Study Objectives and Hypotheses

The primary objective of this study is to examine whether, compared to neverobese closely matched controls, post-obese women have metabolic differences in postprandial fat metabolism and plasma ASP concentration when challenged with an oral fat load. The secondary objective is to study postprandial plasma ASP response in relation to REE, TEF, carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate and insulin sensitivity, which are factors that have been implicated in the maintenance of the obesity state in the post-obese individuals.

In brief, this was done through following the fate of a ¹³C-labeled high fat breakfast meal for 8 hr after food ingestion in 3 plasma pools and in expired breath CO₂, and indirectly assessing adipose tissue exogenous fat uptake. The 3 plasma pools were: TG fraction in TRL with density fraction corresponding to sedimentation factor $S_f > 400$ (referred to as CHYLO-TG), TG fraction in TRL with density fraction $S_f = 20 - 400$ (referred to as VLDL-TG), and in plasma FFA. In addition, measurements of various blood parameters (ASP, insulin, glucose, total TG, CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG, and FFA), and metabolic parameters (REE, TEF and carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate) were conducted along the same time course of 8 hr.

We believe that, after ingestion of a high fat meal, the post-obese women would have an enhanced postprandial plasma ASP response, an enhanced plasma TRL clearance rate, and an increased adipose tissue uptake of the exogenous fat, which would progressively favor their weight regain.

Thus, we hypothesize that as a response to the ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal:

1) Compared to matched never obese controls, the post-obese women would have;

- A. greater % change in postprandial plasma ASP concentration from baseline
- B. lower postprandial plasma total TG, CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG and FFA concentrations, and an earlier return of the postprandial values of these plasma parameters to fasting baseline values. This would indicate faster clearance of postprandial plasma total TG and TRL-TG.
- C. lower % of recovered ¹³C in breath CO₂ per hour, lower ¹³C concentration in CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG and FFA pools, and an earlier return of postprandial ¹³C concentration in plasma CHYLO-TG and VLDL-TG pools to fasting non-enriched baseline values. This would indirectly indicate greater adipose tissue uptake of the exogenous fat.
- Area under the 8 hr time curve (AUC) of the % change in plasma ASP in the postobese and control women would correlate:
 - A. negatively with TEF
 - B. positively with AUC of carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate
 - C. negatively with AUC of serum insulin x glucose concentrations

CHAPTER TWO METHODS & PROCEDURES

II. 1. Study Population

II. 1. 1. Inclusion Criteria

Subjects for the control (never-obese) and post-obese groups were selected according to the following inclusion criteria;

- 30 50 years old women, with regular menstruation.
- Body mass index (BMI) of 20 27 kg/m².
- Normal fasting plasma concentration of total plasma TG (< 1.8 mM), plasma FFA (0.1-0.8 mM), total plasma cholesterol (< 6.4 mM), plasma HDL-C (0.8 2.3 mM) plasma LDL-C (1.3 4.9 mM), plasma, ApoB (45 120 mg/dl), serum insulin (36 179 pM), and serum glucose (2.6 5.2 mM) [Pagana and Pagana 1997].
- No reported history of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, hypertension, gastrointestinal, respiratory or any hormonal disorders.
- Not taking any medication that can affect lipid metabolism for 6 months prior to the study.
- Stable weight (Wt) for 6 months prior to the study (no loss or gain ≥ 4.5 kg).
- Not claustrophobic.

Measurement of energy expenditure through indirect calorimetry requires the use of a transparent plastic canopy that covers the head, which is claustrophobic for some subjects and can affect the accuracy of the measurement due to the stress factor.

• No reported history of obesity or Wt problems (the never-obese group)

• No reported present post-operational gastrointestinal complications such as delayed or fast gastric emptying, also known as dumping syndrome (the post-obese group).

II. 1. 2. Matching Criteria

The post-obese women were recruited before the control women, thus, minimum to maximum ranges for some selected parameters before the study date were obtained, according to which, the control women were matched to the post-obese. The control women were matched to the post-obese women according to the following parameters:

- Age, as the post-obese women age ranged from 31-48 years old.
- BMI, as the post-obese women BMI ranged from 20.1 26.8 kg/m².
- ◆ Body surface area (BSA), as the post-obese women BSA ranged from 1.55 1.84 m²
- Percent body fat (% body fat), as the post-obese women % body fat ranged from 22.0 40.0 %.
- ◆ Waist/hip (W/H) ratio, as the post-obese women W/H ratio ranged from 0.66 0.84.
- Fasting total plasma TG and cholesterol, as the post-obese women total plasma TG ranged from 0.40 1.25 mM, and total plasma cholesterol ranged from 3.30 5.60 mM. Postprandial plasma TG responses increase with rising fasting basal TG level [Bergeron and Havel 1997]. Therefore, matching was done in order to eliminate the effect of inter-subject variation in fasting lipid levels on subsequent postprandial lipemia, and to eliminate significant difference among the two compared groups in previous dietary composition, if existing, particularly regarding fat quality and quantity.

Habitual level of physical activity, as all subjects had light physical activity habits.
 Light physical activity was estimated as the level of activity for most housewives, office workers, doctors, teachers, lab technicians who do not maintain regular physical cardiovascular exercise every day.

Physical activity and alcohol consumption for 3 days prior to the study. Measurement of % body fat is done by measuring electric conductivity through fat free mass (FFM), and is highly influenced by the hydration state of the body [Khaled et al. 1988]. Therefore subjects were instructed not to exercise, engage in heavy cardiovascular activity nor consume alcoholic beverages for the 3 days prior to the assessment of % body fat, so as not to create an artifact due to dehydration.

- Stage in menstrual cycle, as all subjects were between 2-7 days after menstruation (i.e. follicular stage). At this stage during menstruation, sex hormones such as estrogen and progesterone are at their lowest levels, and energy expenditure is at its minimum [Webb 1987, Bisdee et al. 1989]. Therefore this stage was selected to eliminate possible effects of inter-subject variation in sex hormones on plasma ASP, lipid metabolism and energy expenditure in both groups.
- Smoking, as 3 post-obese women were light smokers (less than half a package per day). Although tobacco smoking effect on plasma ASP has never been looked at, it is known to increase sympathoadrenal activity and may influence fat metabolism [Ranneries et al. 1998]. Thus, 3 never obese women were light smokers, and none of the women was allowed to smoke during the study.

II. 1. 3. Recruitment and Sample Size

The cardiovascular research unit at the Royal Victoria Hospital has been keeping records of patients who have undergone the gastric bypass procedure at the hospital between 1993 – 1995. Subjects who had this operation were morbidly obese with a BMI of $\geq 40 \text{ kg/m}^2$. In this procedure, the stomach is reduced to 30 % of its original volume by applying a multiple staple line horizontally along the stomach, with an opening of the new stomach pouch into the small intestine [Benotti and Forse 1995]. An empty stomach has a volume of 50 ml and can expand to 1500 ml with food consumption [Zeman 1991]. Thus, the new volume of gastric bypass stomach can expand to \approx 500 ml with food consumption. Thus this type of bypass induces weight loss by obliging the obese subject to eat far less than normal, due to the reduced stomach size, and not by inducing controlled malabsorption as in some other procedures like jejuno-ileal bypass and biliopancreatic bypass [Benotti and Forse 1995].

Among the list of women who had the gastric bypass procedure at the Royal Victoria Hospital, those between 30 – 50 years old were contacted by phone, with permission of their physician, to screen for suitable subjects according to the inclusion criteria. Only eight post-obese women matched the inclusion criteria and agreed to participate, and thus were included in the study. The post-obese women were recruited before the controls, thus minimum to maximum ranges for the post-obese group regarding age, BMI, BSA, % body fat, W/H ratio, fasting plasma TG and cholesterol were defined according to which the control women were selected.

The control (never-obese) women were recruited through advertisements posted at the Royal Victoria Hospital, Montreal General Hospital, and McGill Campus. They were selected by systemic sampling technique; the first 8 women who called in, who were qualified according to the inclusion criteria, and could be matched to the post-obese women were selected.

To determine qualified subjects from both groups, personal information regarding age, Wt history, menstruation, health problems, medications, alcohol, smoking and activity habits, and complications after the gastric bypass procedure (for the post-obese group) were obtained through a baseline questionnaire (Appendix A). The baseline questionnaire was completed by the study coordinator, during an interview with the subjects, in person or over the phone. In addition, baseline Wt, height (Ht), BMI, BSA, W/H ratio, % body fat, fasting plasma TG, total plasma cholesterol, plasma ApoB, plasma FFA, serum insulin and glucose were measured prior to the study date. These measurements were conducted to ensure normal values of the BMI and blood parameters and to match the control to the post-obese group according to the matching criteria. All subjects signed an informed written consent form prior to enrollment in the study. This study was approved by the Ethics Review Committee of the Royal Victoria Hospital.

II. 2. Study Design & Intervention

This study was cross-sectional in design (Appendix B). On the study day, subjects came in at 8 am after an overnight 12 hr fast (i.e. post-absorptive state). Subjects were instructed not to consume any alcoholic beverages or exercise for three days prior to the study. All subjects were on their usual diets before the study day. Fasting baseline Wt, Ht, BMI, BSA, % body fat, fasting REE, substrates oxidation rate were measured, and blood and breath samples were collected. A high fat mixed breakfast meal was given to

the subjects which was fully ingested over a period of 20 min, under the supervision of the study coordinator. All subjects were given the same meal considering the narrow range of BMI and BSA selected. The high fat breakfast meal consisted of:

60 g (2 slices)	white bread
1	large egg, omelet with cheese and whipped cream
2.5 tablespoon	whipping cream, 35% energy from tat
20 g	cheddar cheese, 33% energy from fat
105 g	bacon strips
70 g	banana, peeled
10 g	margarine, unsalted
16 g	peanut butter, smooth, unsweetened
16 g	raspberry jam, sugar free

(N.B. total meal weight was 384 g, and total homogenized volume ≈ 250 ml)

The same food brands were used for all the meals prepared so as to maintain consistent nutrient composition and ¹³C background natural abundance. The nutrient analysis of this high fat meal was calculated based on the manufacturer's nutrient information available on the food labels combined with a nutritional software (The Food Processor for Windows, version 6.0, ESHA research, Salem, Or), with a Canadian database.

As such, the high fat meal consisted of 4446 joules (1062 kcal), which was, on average, equal to $\approx 60\%$ of the daily caloric requirements for the selected range of subjects' age and BMI. The macronutrient distribution was; 12 % of energy from protein (31.9 g), 21% of energy from carbohydrate (55.8 g) and 67 % of energy from fat (80.0 g), constituting of 25% saturated, 26% mono and 10% polyunsaturated fats in addition to 6% of other missing sources. Such a high fat and high energy meal was selected as to provide an equal acute challenge, above the normal fat and energy intake per meal of both groups, as average daily fat intake in North America = 35-40% energy from fat [for review Golay and Bobbioni 1997]. The high fat meal was labeled with 1.430 ml (1.280 g) of ¹³C-oleate (99 % enrichment) (Cambridge Isotopes, Xenia, OH). ¹³C-oleate mixes freely with other hydrolyzed dietary fat in the intestine, and gets incorporated along other long chain fatty acids into chylomicron [Wolfe 1992]. Oleate, as a label for the long chain dietary fat, was chosen because it is the most abundant fatty acid in dietary fat source [Willem and Vergroesen 1994], plasma TG (40.7%) and adipose tissue (46.2%) [Christie et al. 1971], and its metabolism is representative of other long chain unsaturated fatty acids [Beylot 1994]. The ¹³C-oleate was spread over the 2 slices of toast. All subjects were instructed to eat the labeled toasts slowly throughout the meal.

After the initiation of food intake, postprandial blood samples, breath samples, energy expenditure and substrate oxidation rates measurements were collected at 2, 4, 6, and 8 hr, in addition to the previous fasting measurements. During the 8 hr study period, subjects were not allowed to smoke, or consume any food or beverage, except for water and 1 cup of decaffeinated tea or coffee (no sugar or milk added). They reclined on a sofa-bed and engaged in sedentary activities such as reading or watching TV, and were confined to the research unit. This was to eliminate the effect of activity on increasing measured REE, thus postprandial increase in energy expenditure could be solely attributed to the TEF.

There are some important issues to note when dealing with subjects who have a gastric bypass procedure. Studies have demonstrated that gastric bypass procedures can result in normal, delayed or rapid gastric emptying also called dumping syndrome. Delayed gastric emptying mostly occurs with solid food intake and usually normalizes with time, whereas rapid gastric emptying, the more frequent complication of gastric bypass procedures, usually occurs with ingestion of liquid or semi-liquid foods [Horowitz et al. 1982, Behrns and Sarr 1994]. Post-obese subjects who had dumping or delayed gastric emptying or any other gastrointestinal complication of the gastric bypass were automatically excluded at the recruitment stage. However, in order to avoid dumping in the post-obese group during the study, certain dietary conditions were followed. Rapid gastric emptying can be avoided by proper dietary therapy which controls this syndrome up to 95% [Behrns and Sarr 1994]. Therefore, the breakfast meal was free of simple carbohydrates and consisted of solid food only, with no beverage allowed during food intake or directly after. In addition, the post-obese subjects were instructed to eat slowly, over the 20 min period, and to lie down on a sofa bed after food consumption. All subjects from both groups were monitored during and after food consumption. The meal was well tolerated, and neither the post-obese women, nor the controls, reported any feelings of dizziness, flushing, sweating, or nausea which are symptoms associated with fast or delayed gastric emptying [Gustavsson et al. 1988, Behrns and Sarr 1994].

II. 3. Analysis and Measurements

II. 3. 1. Anthropometric Measurements

Subjects' height was measured with a meter to the closest 50 cm. Percent body fat was determined at fasting state with Bioelectric impedance analysis technique (Tanita Incorporation, Skokie, Illinois). In this technique, a light electric current is passed through the body and electric conductivity through FFM is measured [Khaled et al. 1988]. Fat mass is indirectly measured by subtracting the subject's FFM from total body Wt. To measure % body fat, subject's sex and height were entered into the Tanita memory, then the subject stepped barefoot on the scale, after rubbing the soles of their feet with alcohol, and a printout of % body fat, Wt, FFM, fat mass was obtained.

Waist circumference was measured as the horizontal circumference around the midway between the lowest rib margin and the iliac crest, where as the hip circumference was measured at the point yielding the maximum circumference over the buttocks [Jones et al. 1986]. Waist to hip (W/H) ratio was obtained by dividing waist circumference over hip circumference.

Subject's BSA was calculated based on Wt and Ht using DuBois approximation [Wang et al. 1992];

 $BSA = Wt^{0.425} x Ht^{0.725} x C$ $Where \qquad BSA = Body surface area in cm^{2}$ Wt = Weight in kg Ht = Height in cm C = Constant = 71.84

II. 3. 2. Resting energy Expenditure, Thermic Effect of Food and Carbohydrate/Fat Oxidation Rate Measurements

Resting energy expenditure was assessed through open circuit indirect calorimetry using the Deltatrac instrument (SensorMedics Corporation, Anaheim, CA) which was calibrated for every subject using a reference gas with 96% O₂ and 4% CO₂. As first demonstrated by Atwater and Benedict, indirect calorimetry is a technique that measures energy expenditure, or heat, through quantitation of O₂ consumption and CO₂ production [Donald and Ralph 1990].

Measurement of REE was taken at fasting state at 0 hr, and postprandially at 2, 4, 6 and 8 hr. After 15 min bed rest to equilibrate, subject's O_2 consumption and CO_2 production were measured using a plastic transparent canopy that covered the head completely while the subject was lying down. Measurements were carried out for 20 min, of which the first 5 min were automatically discarded. During the measurements, the subject remained awake and at comfortable room temperature. The Deltatrac employs the Weir equation for the calculation of REE [Cunningham 1990]:

 $REE = 5.68 \text{ VO}_2 + 1.59 \text{ VCO}_2 - 2.17 \text{ N}_u \qquad 2$

Where REE = Resting energy expenditure in Kcal/ 24 hr $VO_2 = O_2$ consumption in ml/min $VCO_2 = CO_2$ production in ml/min $N_{\rm m} =$ Uninary nitrogen excretion in g/24 hr

(N.B. Urinary nitrogen excretion was assumed to be an average of 12 g/day [Schutz et al. 1991]. Actual differences in nitrogen excretion due to previous 24 hr protein intake results in a negligible difference in calculated energy and will not influence the relative

partitioning between carbohydrate and fat oxidation determined during indirect calorimetry [Schutz et al. 1991].

To measure TEF, the trapezoid AUC of the increment increase in energy expenditure above fasting level after ingestion of the fat load was calculated as:

$$TEF = AUC \text{ of } REE - (REE_{fag} \times 8) \qquad 3$$

Where
$$\Gamma EF =$$
 Thermic effect of food in Kcal/8 hr

AUC = Trapezoid Area under the 8 hr time curve of

resting energy expenditure in Kcal/8 hr

REE_{fast}= Fasting resting energy expenditure in Kcal/hr

Substrate oxidation of carbohydrate, fat and protein were automatically calculated by Deltatrac using the following equations:

СНО	$= 5.926 \text{ VCO}_2 - 4.189 \text{ VO}_2 - 2.539 \text{ N}_u \qquad 4$									
Fat	$= 2.432 \text{ VO}_2 - 2.432 \text{ VCO}_2 - 1.943 \text{ N}_u \qquad \qquad$									
Protein = 6. 250 N_u										
Where		CHO	= Carbohydrates oxidized in g/24 hr							
		Fat = Fat oxidized in g/24 hr								
		Protein = Protein oxidized in g/24 hr								
		$\rm VO_2$	= O_2 consumption in ml/min							
		VCO ₂	= CO ₂ production in ml/min							

The carbohydrate oxidation rate in grams was divided by the fat oxidation rate in grams to obtain the ratio of carbohydrate to fat oxidation rate (carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate). Coefficient of variation of the 15 min measurements of REE and substrate oxidation was < 6%.

II. 3. 3. Blood Parameter Measurements

Venous blood samples (40 ml) were collected in 4 (10 ml) vacutainer tubes with (1 tube) and without (3 tubes) anticoagulant (EDTA), at fasting and postprandial states at 0, 2, 4, 6 and 8 hr. Total volume of blood collected during the study was 200 ml. Blood was immediately centrifuged at 1500 rpm, at 4° C for 15 min (Beckman J6-MC Centrifuge, Palo Alto, CA). Plasma (EDTA tubes) and serum aliquots were frozen away at -80° C for later measurements of plasma ASP, plasma lipids, serum insulin and glucose in duplicates. The remaining plasma was kept at 4° C for the isolation of CHYLO, VLDL and FFA fractions, which was immediately performed.

II. 3. 3. 1. Plasma ASP Concentration

Plasma ASP was assayed by in-house enzyme linked immunosorbant assay (ELIZA) [Saleh et al. 1998]. ASP precursor (C3) was precipitated in plasma samples, in in-house plasma controls samples, and in standard ASP samples at 4° C for 90 min with 20% solution of polyethylene glycol (PEG) 8000 (Fisher, Nepean, ON) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for a final PEG concentration of 10%. Samples were centrifuged at 2300 rpm, at 4° C for 20 min and the supernatant was used to assay for ASP. In-house monoclonal anti-ASP antibody 4H3 (7ug/ml in PBS, 100 μ L/well) was coated, overnight at 4° C, on Nunc-Immuno Module MaxiSorp F8 plates (Gibco, Missisaga, On). The plates were blocked for 2 hr, at room temperature with 250 μ L/well of bovine serum albumin (1.5% in PBS) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). PEG precipitated plasma samples and in-house plasma controls were diluted in PBS (1:40) and added to the plate at 100 μ L/well. ASP standards (100 μ L/well) were also added to each plate for a concentration curve ranging from 0.08 nM to 3.06 nM. Plates were incubated for 90 min at 37°C in a shaking bath.

The plates were then washed with wash solution, 0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) in 0.9% NaCl and incubated for 90°C min at 37°C with 100 μ L of rabbit polyclonal anti-ASP antibody (1:2000 dilution in PBS). Goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (100 μ L, 1:3000 dilution in 4% PEG in PBS, 0.05% Tween 20) was added for 30 min at 37°C. Finally the plates were rinsed and the color reaction was initiated by the addition of 100 μ L of phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (0.5 mg/ml in 100 mM NaCitrate, pH 5.0, containing 0.005% Tween 20). The reaction was stopped using 50 μ L/well of 4 N H₂SO₄ solution and absorbance was read with a spectrophotometer (LKB Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, England) at a wavelength of 490 nm. A log [wavelength] versus log [concentration] curve was used to calculate the sample concentration. The linear range of the concentration curve was from 0.14 nM to 1.83 nM with a coefficient of correlation > 0.98, and a coefficient of variation between the measured duplicates of < 5%.

II. 3. 3. 2. Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentrations

Serum insulin and glucose were measured at fasting and postprandially at 2, 4, 6, and 8 hr. Although serum insulin and glucose are expected to peak postprandially earlier than 2 hr, between 30 min to 1.5 hr [Astrup et al. 1994], it was not practicable to withdraw blood at more time points because of the large amount of blood volume already needed (200 ml). Fasting and postprandial blood insulin was assayed in serum samples by commercial radio-immunosorbant assay (RIA) for human insulin (Medicorp Incorporation, Montreal, QC). Samples were counted for one minute in a gamma counter (LKB-Wallac Ria Gamma 1274, Wallac Oy, Finland). The standard curve range was 0-2000 pM. A [radioactivity] versus log [concentration] curve was used to calculate glucose concentration with a coefficient of correlation > 0.99, and coefficient of variation between the measured duplicates of < 5%. Fasting serum insulin was considered normal if it was between 36 - 179 pM.

Fasting as well as postprandial blood glucose was assayed in serum samples by a commercial enzymatic colorimetric kit (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). The standard concentration curve range was 0 - 11.0 mM and absorbance was read with a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 490 nm. An [absorbance] versus [concentration] curve was used to calculate glucose concentration with a coefficient of correlation > 0.99, and a coefficient of variation of the measured duplicates of < 5%. Fasting serum glucose was considered normal if it was between 2.6 - 5.2 mM.

II. 3. 3. 3. Plasma Lipid and Apolipoprotein B Concentrations

Total plasma TG concentration, as well as CHYLO-TG and VLDL-TG concentrations were measured at fasting state and postprandially at 2, 4, 6, and 8 hr after food consumption. Isolation of the density fractions corresponding to CHYLO and VLDL was performed by ultracentrifugation (Beckman L8-80 Ultracentifuge, Palo Alyo, CA). Plasma was centrifuged with 1.006 g/ml NaCl density solution at 30,000 rpm at 4° C for 30 min in Ti50 rotor. The floating milky top layer containing the CHYLO fraction (density fraction with $S_f > 400$) was removed and CHYLO-TG concentration and volume were measured, after correction for dilution with the density solution. The remaining solution was centrifuged at 40,000 rpm at 4° C for 18 hr in Ti50 rotor [Havel et al. 1955]. The floating top layer containing the VLDL fraction (density fraction with $S_f = 20$ -400)

was removed and the VLDL-TG concentration and volume were measured, again after correction for the dilution factor. The remaining solution, the CHYLO solution and VLDL solution were used for isolation of FFA, TG fraction in CHYLO and in VLDL respectively by thin layer chromatography (see below).

Plasma total TG, CHYLO-TG and VLDL-TG were assayed by a commercial enzymatic colorimetric kit (Boehringer Mannheim Biochemica, Laval, QC). The standard curve range was 0 - 2.25 mM. Absorbance was read with a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 490 nm. An [absorbance] versus [concentration] curve was used to calculate TG concentration with a coefficient of correlation of > 0.99, and a coefficient of variation between the measured duplicates of < 5%. Fasting plasma total TG was considered normal if it was < 1.8 mM.

Total plasma FFA was measured at fasting and postprandial states by a commercial enzymatic colorimetric kit (Boehringer Mannheim Biochemica, Laval, QC). The standard curve range was 0 - 1.0 mM and absorbance was read with a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 490 nm. An [absorbance] versus [concentration] curve was used to calculate FFA concentration with a coefficient of correlation > 0.99, and a coefficient of variation between the measured duplicates of < 5%. Fasting plasma FFA was considered normal if it was within a range of 0.1 - 0.8 mM.

Total cholesterol and HDL-C concentrations were measured in fasting samples only as cholesterol concentration does not change significantly through out the fat load. (previously tested in a pilot study on 6 subjects). Cholesterol was assayed by a commercial enzymatic colorimetric kit (Boehringer Mannheim Biochemical, Laval, QC). Plasma HDL-C was separated according to Gidez by heparin/manganese chloride

. .

precipitation (Sigma, St. Louis, MO and Fisher, Nepean, ON) (1:1, v/v) [Gidez et al. 1982]. The standard curve range was 0 - 10.4 mM and absorbance was read with a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 490 nm. An [absorbance] versus [concentration] curve was used to calculate total cholesterol and HDL-C concentrations with a coefficient of correlation > 0.99, and a coefficient of variation between the measured duplicates of total cholesterol and HDL-C of < 5%. Fasting plasma cholesterol was considered normal if it total plasma cholesterol was < 6.4 mM, and HDL-C was within a range of 0.8 - 2.3 mM. Plasma LDL-C was calculated according to Friedewald [Schectman et al. 1996] as:

LDL-C = Total Chol - (HDL-C) - TG/2.3

Where LDL-C	= Low density lipoprotein cholesterol in mM
Total Chol	= Total cholesterol in mM

HDL-C = High density lipoprotein cholesterol in mM

TG = Total triglyceride concentration in mM

Fasting LDL-C was considered normal if it was within a range of 1.3 – 4.9 mM.

Fasting plasma ApoB concentration was measured by nephlometric technique in clinical biochemistry laboratory at the Royal Victoria Hospital. Plasma ApoB was considered within the normal range if it was between 45 – 120 mg/dl.

II. 3. 4. Stable Isotope Measurements

II. 3. 4. 1. Breath Samples

Breath samples were collected at fasting and postprandially at 0, 2, 4, 6 and 8 hr after ingestion of the fat load. Immediately after terminating the indirect calorimetry measurements, breath samples at each time point were collected by blowing into two 2liter urine bags. To trap CO_2 in the breath samples, samples were slowly bubbled into a 100 cm spiral glass trap containing 10 ml of 1 N NaOH solution [Jones et al.1985]. NaOH solution was frozen in sealed and labeled polypropylene tubes at -80° C for later determination of ¹³C enrichment in breath CO_2 within 2 months.

Frozen NaOH samples were thawed on the day of the isotope enrichment analysis. CO₂ trapped in NaOH solution was released by addition of 2 ml of Ophosphoric acid 85% (Fisher, Fair Lawn, NJ) to 2 ml of NaOH solution in a vacutainer [Jones et al.1985]. Vacutainers containing CO₂ gas samples, in duplicates, were directly transferred to a Dual Inlet Stable Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometry (IR/MS) (Vacuum Generators, Cheshire, UK)] for ¹³C enrichment analysis. In the dual inlet IR/MS system, each sample is compared with a reference standard under identical instrumental conditions. The reference limestone standard, Pee Dee Belemnite (PDB) is defined to be 0 ppm [Wolfe 1992]. The instrument was calibrated using CO₂ gas of known isotopic enrichment of ¹³C/¹²C = 0.0107403 (Delta ¹³C (‰) = -44.221 ± 0.296 ppm).

¹³C enrichment was calculated using the following formula [Binnert et al. 1995]:

Where $\delta^{13}C$ (‰)_{t=i} = Delta at time = i hr in ppm (part per million) $R_{St=i} = {}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ of the sample at time = i hr $R_{PDB} = {}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ of PDB = 0.0112372

¹³C enrichment in breath samples was expressed as % of the administered ¹³C dose recovered in breath CO₂ per hour, and was calculated according to (Schoeller 1980):

$$% {}^{13}C_{rechr} = \underline{mM \ excess} {}^{13}C/\underline{mM \ CO_2} = x \ (mM \ CO_2 \ excreted \ hr}) \ x \ 1.25 \ x \ 100 \qquad \dots 9$$

$$\underline{mM} {}^{13}C_{administered}$$

Where % ¹³C rechr = % administered ¹³C recovered in breath CO₂/hr
mM excess ¹³C/mM CO₂ =
$$(\delta^{13}C(\%)_{t=i} - \delta^{13}C(\%)_{t=0}) R_{PDB} \times 10^{-3} \dots 10$$

mM ¹³C administered = $\underline{mg}_{M}^{13}C$ -oleate x (P) x (n) 11

mg 13 C-oleate = Weight of administered 13 C-oleate = 1280 mg = Molecular weight of 13 C-oleate = 283.45 М = ¹³C isotope purity = 99 Ρ = Number of labeled carbon position = 1 n mM CO_{2 excreted.hr} = (BSA) x 300 mM/m².hr 12 $mM CO_{2excreted hr} = Excreted breath CO_2 in mM/hr$ = Subjects' body surface area in m^2 BSA 1.25 = Correction factor to adjust for uptake of label

into the HCO₃ pool [Irving et al. 1983]

Coefficient of variation between the measured duplicates of ${}^{13}CO_2$ enrichment in breath CO_2 samples was < 2%.

II. 3. 4. 2. Blood Samples

¹³C enrichment was measured in plasma FFA and the TG fraction of CHYLO and VLDL at fasting and postprandial states at 0, 2, 4, 6, and 8 hr. The lipid layer was extracted from CHYLO, VLDL and FFA samples according to Bligh & Dyer with 5 times chloroform/ methanol (2:1, v/v) (Fisher, Nepean, ON). The organic extract was then evaporated under nitrogen gas. Dried extracts were re-dissolved in chloroform, and FFA (Retardation factor: $R_f = 0.22$) and TG ($R_f = 0.5$) were separated by thin layer chromatography on LK5 silica gel plates 150A° (Whatman, Clifton, NJ) using hexane/ ether/ acetic acid (Fisher, Nepean, ON) (75:25:1, v/v/v) as mobile phase. TG and FFA were stained with iodine vapor and scraped off the plates then extracted from silica gel powder with hexane/ chloroform/ diethyl ether (5:2:1, v/v/v) (Fisher, Nepean, ON).

TG and FFA samples were dried under N₂ and transferred into 18 cm combustion tubes (Vycor, Corning GlassnWorks, Corning, NY). CuO (0.6 g) and 2 cm silver wire were added, and tubes were flame sealed under vacuum at less than 20 mtorr pressure. TG and FFA samples were fully combusted at 520° C for 4 hr. The generated CO₂ and H₂O were separated by trapping H₂O with a -95° C methanol slurry, and CO₂ in a vacutainer submerged in a -198° C liquid N₂ bath [Jones et al. 1985]. Vacutainers containing the CO₂ samples were analyzed in duplicates for ¹³C enrichment within 12 hr.

Analysis of ¹³C enrichment in the plasma FFA samples and the CHYLO-TG and VLDL-TG samples in duplicates were conducted in the IR/MS. TG or FFA samples before combustion weighed between 0.25 - 0.9 mg/ sample in order to generate enough CO₂ after combustion to be measured on the IR/MS. Enrichment was calculated using the following formula [Binnert et al. 1995]:

.

Where
$$\delta^{13}C$$
 (‰)_{t=i} = Delta at time = i hr in ppm (part per million)
 $R_{S t=i} = {}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ of the sample at time = i hr
 $R_{PDB} = {}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ of PDB = 0.0112372

¹³C enrichment in plasma CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG and FFA pools were expressed as ¹³C concentration in each of the 3 plasma pools and calculated as follows:

$$[^{13}C] CHYLO-TG_{t=i} = (mM excess {}^{13}C/mM CO_{2t=i})_{CHYLO-TG} x mM CHYLO-TG_{t=i} 13$$
$$[^{13}C] VLDL-TG_{t=i} = (mM excess {}^{13}C/mM CO_{2t=i})_{VLDL-TG} x mM VLDL-TG_{t=i} 14$$

$$[^{13}C]$$
 FFA_{t=i}

=

. .

. .

(mM excess ${}^{13}C/mM CO_{2t=i}$)_{FFA} x mM FFA_{t=i} 15

Where
$$[{}^{13}C]_{t=i}$$
 = ${}^{13}C$ concentration at time = i hr in CHYLO-TG.

•

II. 4. Statistical Analysis

Fasting baseline measures comparing the post-obese and control groups for anthropometric measurements, body composition, blood parameters concentration, REE/FFM/hr, carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate and for TEF were analyzed by unpaired *t*test. The concentration curves of blood parameters, blood and breath ¹³C enrichments, REE/FFM were analyzed by a repeated measures 2 way analysis of variance (RM 2-way ANOVA), conducting all pairwise multiple comparisons using Bonferroni *t*-tests.

There were 3 null hypotheses tested by the RM 2-way ANOVA:

- mean group difference: comparing the post-obese group mean of the 5 time points (0, 2, 4, 6, and 8 hrs) versus the control group mean of the 5 time points.
- mean time difference: comparing the 5 time points to each other, the 0 hr mean of the post-obese and control groups versus the 2 hr mean of the post-obese and control groups versus the 4 hr mean of the post-obese group and the control groups and so on.
- mean group x time interaction, comparing the post-obese vs the control group within each time point, called group difference within time, and comparing the 5 time points within each group, called time difference within group. Interaction is present, as calculated by 2-way ANOVA, when the main effects (mean group difference or mean time difference) were not sufficient to describe the data, and further analysis of group x time interaction was required. When an interaction was present, the group difference within time and/or time difference within group was described in the results. It is by the group x time interaction analysis that the difference in clearance rate of various blood parameters between the post-obese and control groups was

determined. The group that had an earlier return of postprandial blood sample to fasting baseline levels was determined to have a faster clearance

Statistical analysis was performed using SigmaStat (Jandel scientific software for windows '95, San Rafael, CA). Prior to running ANOVA and *t*-test analysis, SigmaStat automatically tests for samples' normality and equal variance assumptions required for these tests. When normality or equal variance test failed, data to be measured by RM 2-way ANOVA (carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate and ¹³C concentration in VLDL-TG) were transformed to the trapezoid AUC, and mean difference was tested by an unpaired *t*-test. Correlation between the AUC of selected parameters was conducted by Pearson product moment correlation. Significance was set at p < 0.05 for all parametric, non-parametric and correlation tests, except for % change in ASP, as this is a 2-tailed test and significance at p < 0.025 was required.

40

CHAPTER THREE RESULTS

III. 1. Subjects' Baseline Characteristics

Tables 1 and 2 show values for age, fasting baseline anthropometric characteristics; Wt, Ht, BMI, BSA, W/H ratio, % body fat, FFM, and fat mass, as well as blood parameters; total TG, cholesterol, HDL-C, calculated LDL-C, ApoB, insulin and glucose of the post-obese and control women on the study date.

There was no statistically significant group difference between the post-obese and control women in the mean value of age, BMI, BSA, W/H ratio, % body fat, total plasma TG and cholesterol as a result of matching. There was also no significant difference between the two groups in any of the other parameters shown, which taken together with the matched parameters, results in a more homogeneous background between the post-obese and the control groups.

	Age (yrs)	Wt (kg)	Ht (cm)	BMI (kg/m²)	BSA (m²)	W/H ratio	% B. fat	FFM (kg)	Fat mass (kg)	TG (mM)	FFA (mM)	Chol (mM)	HDL-C (mM)		ApoB (mg/dl)		Glucose (mM)
1	45	69.4	162.5	26.3	1.73	0.83	39.5	42.0	27.4	0.54	0.23	4.14	1.33	2.58	64.0	131.2	3.02
2	37	57.7	166.0	20.9	1.64	0.74	22.6	44.7	13.0	0.50	0.44	3.31	1.18	1.91	49.7	124.5	3.89
3	31	52.7	162.0	20.1	1.55	0.66	22.4	40.9	11.8	0.83	0.36	3.90	1.74	1.80	48.5	112.4	4.27
4	35	73.1	170.5	25.1	1.84	0.81	29.3	51.7	21.4	0.70	0.40	3.61	1.00	2.31	56.5	108.1	4.05
5	38	64.0	163.0	24.1	1.69	0.82	36.0	41.0	23.0	1.04	0.42	5.60	1.51	3.64	82.3	129.2	4.77
6	44	74.2	166.5	26.8	1.82	0.84	41.7	43.2	30.9	1.04	0.62	5.47	1.64	3.38	80.6	121.6	3.76
7	48	58.8	163.0	22.1	1.63	0.76	27.2	42.8	16.0	0.64	0.38	4.28	1.76	2.24	78.6	125.2	4.57
8	44	58.5	156.0	24.0	1.57	0.79	28.4	41.9	16.6	0.92	0.19	3.78	0.95	2.43	91.7	163.2	5.20
Avg	40	63.6	163.7	23.7	1.68	0.78	30.9	43.5	20.0	0.78	0.38	4.26	1.39	2.54	69.0	126.9	4.19
SD	6	7.9	4.2	2.4	0.11	0.06	7.3	3.5	6.8	0.21	0.13	0.84	0.32	0.66	16.4	16.6	0.67
SD	6	7.9	4.2	2.4	0.11	0.06	7.3	3.5	6.8	0.21	0.13	0.84	0.32	0.00	10.4	10.0	

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of the Post-Obese Women on the Day of the Study

Normal range of fasting plasma concentration is: total plasma TG (<1.8 mM), FFA (0.1-0.8 mM), total cholesterol (<6.4 mM), HDL-C (0.8-2.3 mM), LDL-C (1.3-4.9 mM), ApoB (45-120 mg/dl), serum insulin (36-179 pM), and serum glucose (2.6-5.2 mM)

	Age (yrs)	Wt (kg)	Ht (cm)	BMI (kg/m²)	BSA (m ²)	W/H ratio	% B. fat	FFM (kg)	Fat mass (kg)	TG (mM)	FFA (mM)	Chol (mM)		•	ApoB (mg/dl)		Glucose (mM)
	40	53.4	161.0	20.6	1.54	0.68	23.3	41.0	12.4	1.29	0.68	3.78	1.53	1.69	53.4	98.6	3.55
2	32	66.5	159.5	26.1	1.70	0.77	38.8	40.7	25.8	1.21	0.56	3.76	0.54	2.69	77.9	147.1	4.30
3	31	69.0	168.5	24.3	1.79	0.75	30.2	48.2	20.8	0.34	0.14	3.30	1.48	1.67	52.7	105.6	4.23
4	38	63.5	169.0	22.2	1.73	0.74	30.8	44.0	19.6	0.68	0.13	3.80	1.07	2.43	65.6	141.9	4.03
5	48	61.8	166.5	22.3	1.69	0.69	36.2	39.4	22.4	0.59	0.68	4.03	2.20	1.58	66.2	124.4	4.98
6	35	65.8	169.0	23.0	1.63	0.78	35.3	42.6	23.3	0.87	0.59	4.90	1.44	3.08	93.9	88.6	4.66
7	40	55.2	165.0	20.3	1.60	0.80	30.7	38.3	16.9	0.70	0.42	4.67	1.66	2.71	77.1	139.8	4.47
8	36	71.0	174.0	23.5	1.84	0.74	35.2	46.1	24.9	0.72	0.19	4.25	1.56	2.38	84.6	93.9	4.41
Avg	38	63.3	166.6	22.8	1.69	0.74	32.6	42.5	20.8	0.80	0.42	4.06	1.44	2.28	71.4	117.5	4.33
SD	5	6.3	4.7	1.9	0.10	0.04	4.8	3.4	4.4	0.31	0.24	0.52	0.48	0.56	14.6	23.6	0.42

Table 2. Baseline Characteristics of the Control Women on the Day of the Study

Normal range of fasting plasma concentration is: total plasma TG (<1.8 mM), FFA (0.1-0.8 mM), total cholesterol (<6.4 mM), HDL-C (0.8-2.3 mM), LDL-C (1.3-4.9 mM), ApoB (45-120 mg/dl), serum insulin (36-179 pM), and serum glucose (2.6-5.2 mM)

III. 2. Metabolic Parameters

III. 2. 1. Resting Energy Expenditure per Hour

Fasting and postprandial REE per hour (REE/hr) for the post-obese and control groups following ingestion of the high fat meal are shown in figure 1. There was no statistically significant difference in mean REE/hr between the two groups. There was however a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), as REE is expected to increase postprandially as a result of the TEF, and there was a significant group x time interaction (p < 0.001).

Fasting REE/hr was similar between the post-obese and control group. In both groups, REE/hr increased significantly at 2 and 4 hr after ingestion of the high fat meal, with the post-obese being significantly higher than the controls at 2 hr ($p \le 0.008$). However, whereas the REE/hr remained significantly elevated at 6 hr ($p \le 0.001$) and at the end of the study at 8 hr ($p \le 0.02$) in the control group, it returned to its fasting baseline levels at 6 hr in the post-obese group.



Figure 1. Resting energy expenditure per hour (REE/hr) in the post-obese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 2. 2. Thermic Effect of Food

Mean thermic effect of the high fat meal over the 8 hr of the post-obese women was 517 ± 11 Kcal/8 hr, and that of the control women was 481 ± 16 Kcal/8 hr (Mean \pm SEM). Although REE/hr returned to its fasting level earlier in the post-obese group than the controls, there was no statistically significant difference in mean TEF between the two groups.

This can be explained by the shape of the curve of REE/hr. In the post-obese group, there was a sharper increase in REE/hr at 2 hr, above its level in the controls at the same time point, whereas the increase in REE/hr in the controls was less acute at 2 hr, maintaining a plateau afterwards at 2, 4, and 6 hr. The result being that mean AUC of the REE, or TEF, in the two groups was similar. Some studies (see introduction) suggested that the shape of the REE curve is important, and that if TEF was measured for a sufficient period of time, more than 5 hr, then no difference would exist between the compared groups (obese vs their matched controls in that study). The same could be said in this study, regarding the importance of the shape of the curve of the REE and length of measurement in comparing TEF of the post-obese and their matched controls, and may explain the discrepancies about TEF differences in post-obese subjects and their matched controls found in other studies.

III. 2. 3. Carbohydrate/Fat Oxidation Rate

Figure 2 shows values for fasting and postprandial carbohydrate to fat oxidation rates (g/g) for the post-obese and control groups, after ingestion of the labeled high fat mixed meal over the 8 hr study period. Data were transformed to the trapezoid AUC of carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate as normality test failed (p = 0.003). There was no statistically significant difference in the mean AUC of carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate between the post-obese 18.54 ± 5.34, and that of the control groups 20.22 ± 2.99 (Mean ± SEM). Thus, there is no difference in utilization of carbohydrate and fat as the source of energy between the post-obese and control groups.



Figure 2. Carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate in the post-obese (_____) and control (_____) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

III. 3. Blood Parameters

III. 3. 1. Plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein Concentration

Figure 3 show values for fasting and postprandial plasma ASP concentrations, and Figure 4 show values for the % change in postprandial plasma ASP concentration from baseline for the post-obese and control women after ingestion of the high fat meal. In both groups, plasma ASP concentration was between the 10th (14.5 nM) and 90th (40.8 nM) percentile of the normal non-obese distribution (see introduction), and there was no difference in mean fasting plasma ASP concentration in both groups. Although there was a trend for lower fasting and postprandial plasma ASP concentration, and a greater % change from fasting baseline in the post-obese group, there was no significant difference in mean plasma ASP concentration or % change from baseline, and there was no group x time interaction (ASP concentration or % change).

However, there was a statistically significant mean time difference where, compared to its fasting level, mean plasma ASP concentration, of both groups averaged together, was significantly decreased at 6 hr (-18.5 \pm 7.5%) and 8 hr (-25.4 \pm 7.1%) (mean \pm SEM) after food ingestion (p < 0.001). It cannot be determined however if the decrease (% change from baseline) in plasma ASP concentration was greater in the postobese at 6 and 8 hr because there was no group x time interaction.



Figure 3. Plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) concentration in the post-obese (\longrightarrow) and control (\longrightarrow) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.



Figure 4. Percent change in plasma Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) concentration from baseline in the post-obese (\longrightarrow) and control ($\cdots \cdots$) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

III. 3. 2. Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentrations

III. 3. 2. 1. Serum Insulin Concentration

Figure 5 shows values for fasting and postprandial serum insulin concentrations in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the high fat mixed meal. There was no group difference between the post-obese and control groups in serum insulin concentration, but there was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), and a group x time interaction with p = 0.05. In both groups, mean serum insulin rose significantly 2 hr after food ingestion (p < 0.01). However, in the post-obese group serum insulin concentrations at 4, 6, and 8 hr were similar to that at fasting where as in the control group, serum insulin remained significantly elevated at 4 hr (p < 0.05), returning to fasting levels only at 6 hr. In addition, serum insulin in the control group was significantly higher than that in the post-obese at 4 hr (p = 0.003).



Figure 5. Serum insulin concentration in the post-obese (______) and control (_____) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group.

III. 3. 2. 2. Serum Glucose Concentration

Figure 6 shows values for fasting and postprandial serum glucose concentrations in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the high fat mixed meal. There was a group difference in mean serum glucose concentration between the post-obese and control women, where the post-obese group were significantly lower than the controls (p=0.006). In addition, there was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.05), and a mean group x time interaction with p < 0.05. Fasting serum glucose concentration was similar in both groups. However, while in the post-obese group postprandial serum glucose concentrations were similar to fasting values at all time points measured, serum glucose in the control group was significantly higher than fasting values at 2 and 4 hr, and higher that that of the post-obese at the same time points (p < 0.05).



Figure 6. Serum glucose concentration in the post-obese (______) and control (....) women after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, p < 0.006 indicates significance for mean group difference, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.
III. 3. 2. 3. Serum Insulin and Glucose Concentration Product

To examine whether the post-obese individuals have higher insulin sensitivity, as was previously suggested in some studies (see introduction), insulin sensitivity in the post-obese group compared to the matched controls was examined. A novel index of insulin sensitivity was used in this study which was the product of serum insulin and glucose concentration (insulin x glucose). This index reflects actual absolute values rather than ratios. Lower serum glucose concentration maintained by even lower levels of serum insulin concentration would thus indicate higher cellular sensitivity to circulating insulin. Mean fasting and postprandial serum insulin x glucose values in the post-obese and control groups are shown in Figure 7. Data shown suggest that the post-obese have, on average, higher insulin sensitivity than the control group as they have significantly lower mean serum insulin x glucose concentration values (p = 0.02).



Figure 7. Serum insulin x glucose concentration in the post-obese (_____) and control (_____) women in response to the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, p = 0.02 represents significance for mean group difference.

III. 3. 3. Plasma Lipid Concentration

III. 3. 3. 1. Total Plasma Triglyceride Concentration

Fasting and postprandial total plasma TG concentrations for the post-obese and control groups after ingestion of the labeled high fat meal are shown in Figure 8. There was no statistically significant difference between the post-obese and the control groups in mean total plasma TG. There was, however, a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), and a group x time interaction with p = 0.01. In both groups, total plasma TG was significantly higher than fasting levels at 2 and 4 hr after food ingestion (p < 0.05) with both groups returning to baseline values by 6 hr. However, many studies (as earlier mentioned in introduction) have demonstrated the close correlation between fasting total plasma TG response. The two studied groups have been matched for the baseline fasting total plasma TG, which can explain the finding of no significant difference in total plasma TG clearance curves between the two groups.



Figure 8. Total plasma triglyceride (TG) concentration in the post-obese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 3. 3. 2. Plasma Triglyceride Concentration in Chylomicron

Fasting and postprandial plasma TG concentrations in plasma density fraction with $S_f > 400$ (CHYLO-TG) in the post-obese and control groups are shown in Figure 9. Mean CHYLO-TG concentration was similar in the post-obese and control groups, but there was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), and a group x time interaction (p = 0.02). In both groups, plasma CHYLO-TG was significantly higher at 2 and 4 hr after food ingestion (p < 0.001). However, as hypothesized, data suggest a faster clearance of plasma CHYLO-TG in the post-obese group as plasma CHYLO-TG concentration returned to fasting levels by 6 hr, and only at 8 hr in the control group. In addition, plasma CHYLO-TG concentration at 6 hr was significantly lower in the postobese than in the control group (p = 0.02).



Figure 9. Plasma triglyceride concentration in chylomicron (CHYLO-TG) in the postobese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time point, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 3. 3. 3. Plasma Triglyceride Concentration in Very Low Density

Lipoprotein

Figure 10 shows values for fasting and postprandial plasma TG concentration in plasma density fraction with $S_f = 20-400$ (VLDL-TG) in the post-obese and control groups after ingestion of the high fat meal. There was no statistically significant group difference in VLDL-TG concentration between the two groups, nor was there a group x time interaction. However, there was a significant time difference (p < 0.001) where, compared to its fasting levels, mean VLDL-TG concentrations of both groups significantly increased at 2 and 4 hr after food ingestion returning to its fasting level by 6 hr.

Of interest is the shape of the curve of total plasma TG which parallels that of plasma CHYLO-TG ($S_f > 400$) and VLDL-TG ($S_f = 20-400$). This should be expected given that postprandial plasma TG mainly circulate in TRL of plasma density fraction with $S_f > 20$.



Figure 10. Plasma triglyceride concentration in very low density lipoprotein (VLDL-TG) in the post-obese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

III. 3. 3. 4. Plasma Free Fatty Acid Concentration

Fasting and postprandial plasma FFA concentration in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the high fat meal are shown in Figure 11. There was no statistically significant group difference in mean plasma FFA concentration between the post-obese and the control women, however, there was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), and a strong group x time interaction (p = 0.008).

In both groups, postprandial plasma FFA concentration decreased significantly 2 hr after food ingestion ($p \le 0.05$), as would be expected due to postprandial, carbohydrate-induced insulin secretion as apparent from Figure 5, and inhibition of adipose tissue hormone sensitive lipase and lipolysis. However, although plasma FFA concentration was significantly higher in the post-obese group compared to the controls 4 hr after food ingestion (p = 0.005), its value at that time point merely returned to fasting level, and remained at such concentration throughout the rest of the study. On the other hand, in the control group, plasma FFA concentration increased steadily after 2 hr reaching a significantly higher concentration than the fasting value 8 hr after food ingestion (p = 0.02). The sharp increase in plasma FFA in the post-obese group and not in the control at 4 hr, may be in part due to the sharp drop in serum insulin concentration in the post-obese where it remained elevated in the controls at same time point.



Figure 11. Plasma free fatty acid concentration (FFA) in the post-obese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time point, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 4. ¹³C Enrichment

III. 4. 1. Breath Samples

Figure 12 show values for mean postprandial ¹³C enrichment in breath CO₂ pool for the post-obese and control groups following ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal, and expressed as the % of administered ¹³C dose recovered in breath CO₂ per Hr. There was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001) as enrichment in breath CO₂ increased in postprandial samples in both groups. However, contrary to our hypothesis, there was no statistically significant group difference in mean % recovered dose/hr in breath CO₂ between the post-obese and the control groups, but there was a strong group x time interaction (p = 0.003).

In the post-obese group, breath ¹³CO₂ enrichment increased significantly 2 and 4 hr after food ingestion (p < 0.01) and reached a plateau there after, where 13C enrichment were similar at 4, 6, and 8 hr. In the control group, however, breath ¹³CO₂ enrichment increased significantly at 4 and 6 hr (p < 0.001), and reached a plateau between 6 and 8 hr. In addition, at 8 hr, breath ¹³CO₂ enrichment was significantly lower in the post-obese group then in the controls (p = 0.002).



Figure 12. Percent recovered ¹³C in breath CO₂ per hour in the post-obese (______) and control (.....) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 4. 2. Blood Samples

III. 4. 2. 1. Triglyceride Fraction of Plasma Chylomicron Pool

Figure 13 show values for mean ¹³C enrichment above baseline in CHYLO-TG in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the ¹³C labeled high fat meal expressed as ¹³C concentration in plasma CHYLO-TG.

There was no significant difference in mean plasma CHYLO-TG ¹³C concentration between the post-obese and the control groups, but there was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), and a strong group x time interaction with p = 0.001. In both groups, plasma CHYLO-TG pool was significantly enriched 2 hr after food ingestion (p < 0.005). However, as hypothesized, ¹³C concentration in CHYLO-TG pool was cleared earlier in the post-obese than the controls, as it returned to baseline non-enriched values 4 hr after food ingestion in the post-obese, whereas it required 8 hr in the control group. In addition, compared to the controls, CHYLO-TG ¹³C concentration was significantly lower at 4 and 6 hr after food ingestion in the post-obese group (p < 0.05).



Figure 13. ¹³C concentration in the triglyceride fraction of plasma chylomicron pool (CHYLO-TG) in the post-obese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 4. 2. 2. Triglyceride Fraction of Plasma Very Low Density

Lipoprotein Pool

Figure 14 show values for mean ¹³C enrichment above baseline levels in plasma VLDL-TG in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the ¹³C labeled high fat meal, and expressed as plasma VLDL-TG ¹³C concentration. Data were transformed to AUC of plasma VLDL-TG ¹³C concentration as normality test failed (ρ = 0.002). Thus, although there is a clear trend for a faster clearance in the post-obese group of ¹³C concentration in VLDL-TG pool as hypothesized, it cannot be determined which group attained an earlier return to fasting value and at what time point, as group x time interaction was not calculated (2-way ANOVA test was not conducted). Mean AUC of ¹³C enrichment in plasma VLDL-TG pool, however, shows no significant difference between the post-obese and the control groups (mean ± SEM, 0.279 ± 0.040 ¹³C μ M/ 8 hr respectively).



Figure 14. ¹³C concentration in the triglyceride fraction of plasma very low density lipoprotein pool (VLDL-TG) in the post-obese (----) and control (----) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

III. 4. 2. 3. Plasma Free Fatty Acid Pool

Figure 15 shows values for mean ¹³C enrichment above baseline levels in plasma FFA in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the ¹³C labeled high fat meal, and expressed as plasma FFA ¹³C concentration.

By far, the greatest difference between the post-obese and the control groups was in the fractionation of the labeled FFA between the plasma and tissue compartments. As hypothesized, mean plasma FFA ¹³C concentration was significantly higher in the control group than in the post-obese (p = 0.009). In addition, there was a significant time difference (p < 0.001) as well as a strong group x time interaction (p < 0.001).

The appearance of the ingested ¹³C-label in the postprandial plasma FFA pool is a result of hydrolysis of plasma TG in TRL core ($S_f > 20$ CHYLO-TG and VLDL-TG). Although, in the post-obese group, the ¹³C was cleared from plasma CHYLO-TG pool only 4 hr after food ingestion, with a trend for the same rate of clearance in plasma VLDL-TG pool, postprandial plasma FFA pool ¹³C concentration did not increase significantly above baseline at any of the time points measured. In the control group, however, as ¹³C concentration decreased after 4 hr in plasma CHYLO-TG pool, with the same trend in plasma VLDL-TG pool, plasma FFA ¹³C concentration increased dramatically 6 and 8 hr after food ingestion, and thus, was higher than that of the post-obese at the same time points (p < 0.001). Thus, in the post-obese group, whatever label was released from TRL by TG hydrolysis was preferentially assimilated into the surrounding tissue and prevented from accumulating in plasma FFA pool.



Figure 15. ¹³C concentration in plasma free fatty acid pool (FFA) in the post-obese () and control () groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, p = 0.009 indicates significance for mean group difference, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, *** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 4. 2. 3. Total Plasma Compartment

To estimate total enrichment of the plasma compartment with the ingested label, ¹³C concentrations in the 3 measured plasma pools, plasma CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG, and FFA, were summed. Figure 16 shows values for mean ¹³C enrichment above baseline levels in total plasma compartment in the post-obese and the control women after ingestion of the ¹³C labeled high fat meal, and expressed as total plasma ¹³C concentration.

There was no mean group difference between the post-obese and the controls, but there was a significant mean time difference (p < 0.001), and a strong group x time interaction (p < 0.001). Compared to the controls, there was an earlier clearance of ¹³C from total plasma compartment in the post-obese group. In both groups, ¹³C concentration in total plasma compartment increased significantly 2 and 4 hr after food ingestion (p < 0.01). However, although in the control group total plasma compartment was still significantly enriched at the end of the study, 8 hr after food ingestion, plasma ¹³C concentration returned to baseline non-enriched values at 6 hr in the post-obese group. In fact, it is unclear at which time the label would be cleared from the plasma in the control group, as enrichment has reached a plateau after 4 hr where ¹³C concentrations in plasma at 4, 6, and 8 hr after food ingestion were similar. Thus, compared to matched controls, this data suggest a far greater exogenous fat clearance efficiency in the post-obese women examined in this study.



Figure 16. ¹³C concentration in total plasma compartment in the post-obese (_____) and control (_____) groups after ingestion of the ¹³C-labeled high fat meal. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 post-obese vs control women at indicated time points, ** p < 0.05 postprandial vs fasting in the post-obese group, *** p < 0.05, postprandial vs fasting in the control group.

III. 5. Correlation

AUC of selected parameters in the post-obese and control groups, taken together, were tested for correlation as shown in Table 3. There was no significant correlation between the AUC of the % change in plasma ASP from fasting level and TEF, carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate or insulin x glucose concentrations. In addition, insulin sensitivity, which was suggested to influence carbohydrate/fat oxidation in other studies by favoring tissue glucose uptake, did not correlate either with carbohydrate/fat oxidation or TEF.

Of interest, AUC of plasma ASP concentration correlated positively with AUC of total plasma TG and VLDL-TG, and AUC of % change in postprandial plasma ASP from baseline correlated negatively with AUC of CHYLO-TG. In addition, AUC of insulin x glucose concentration, the index of insulin sensitivity, correlated positively with AUC total plasma TG and CHYLO-TG. Thus, women in both groups with lower mean plasma ASP, greater % change of postprandial plasma ASP or higher insulin sensitivity had also lower postprandial total plasma TG concentration and faster clearance of circulating postprandial TRL. Other parameters were also tested for correlation, as shown in table 3, and are discussed in chapter 4.

AUC	TEF	Carbohydrate / Fat oxidation	[Insulin xGlucose]	[Total TG]	CHYLO -TG]	[VLDL -TG]	[¹³ C] Breath CO ₂	[13C] CHYLO-TG	[¹³ C] VLDL-TG	[¹³ C] FFA
[ASP]	NS	NS	NS	0.58 <i>0.02</i>	NS	0.59 <i>0.02</i>	NS	NS	NS	NS
ASP % Change	NS	NS	NS	NS	-0.56 0.02	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
(Insulin)	NS	NS	-	0.69 <0.01	0.72 <0.01	0.60 0.01	NS	0.57 <i>0.02</i>	NS	0.57 <i>0.02</i>
[Insulin X Glucose].	NS	NS	-	0.65 <0.01	0.73 <0.01	NS	NS	0.58 <i>0.02</i>	NS	0.68 <0.01
[¹³ C] CHYLO-TG	NS	NS	0.58 0.02	NS	0.49 0.05	0.52 0.04	NS	-	0.84 <0.0001	0.77 <0.001
[¹³ C] VLDL-TG	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.52 0.04	0.56 <i>0.02</i>	NS	0.84 <0.0001	-	0.57 <i>0.02</i>
[¹³ C] FFA	NS	NS	0.68 <0.01	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.77 <0.001	0.57 <i>0.02</i>	-

Table 3. Correlation Between Area Under the Curve of Selected Parametersof the Post-Obese and Control Groups

Data in table represent r-value, and *p*-value (*italic number* underneath the r-value), n = 16 for each category. AUC = Area under the 8 hours time curve, [] = concentration of enclosed parameters, NS = not significant \bigotimes

CHAPTER FOUR DISCUSSION

The results in this study suggest that the metabolic differences between the postobese and the control women exist in the clearance efficiency of the exogenous fat source ingested. Data obtained from the post-obese women provide clear evidence for a faster removal of the ingested label from the plasma compartment.

Most of the studies conducted in the past decade on post-obese individuals compared to never-obese matched individuals have investigated metabolic differences in fasting and postprandial REE, TEF, insulin-glucose responses and substrate oxidation between the 2 groups. To date, few have examined differences in the oxidation versus storage of dietary fat. The use of a ¹³C-labeled high fat meal is a specific, validated, non-invasive technique that have been used to trace the fate of dietary fat through breath CO₂ and plasma lipoproteins in obese individuals [Binnert et al. 1996, Binnert et al. 1998]. We have employed this technique as a novel method to investigate fat metabolism in post-obese women.

The post-obese group had a gastric bypass procedure that resulted in massive weight loss 2 - 3 years prior to this study. Studies have demonstrated that gastric bypass procedures can result in normal, delayed or rapid gastric that usually normalize with time specially with intake of solid foods [Behrns and Sarr 1994, Horowitz et al. 1982]. The possibility of rapid gastric emptying or dumping was avoided by tailoring the meal composition and consistency to fit the dietary therapy guidelines for this syndrome, which have been demonstrated to adequately control this condition [Behrns and Sarr 1994]. On the other hand, delayed gastric emptying symptoms, had it occurred, would have been easily detected, as food is being retained in the stomach, and postprandial abdominal pain, distention, nausea and vomiting directly follow food ingestion [Gustavsson et al. 1988]. All subjects were monitored during and after food ingestion, particularly for the first 2 hours, when symptoms of dumping or delayed emptying would occur. None was noticed by the study coordinator nor reported by the post-obese or control women. Thus, it is unlikely that the differences in clearance rate of the label from the blood compartment between the 2 groups studied was due to difference in rate of delivery of the label into that compartment.

A second issue to note regarding the post-obese gastric bypass procedure is that, in order to avoid dumping, patients who undergo gastric bypass procedures are advised to consume small frequent meals, 4 - 6 meals a day [Behrns and Sarr 1994]. In terms of meal size, the meal volume, 250 ml, equals approximately half the gastric bypass stomach expansion capacity which is approximately 500 ml [Zeman 1991, Benotti and Force 1995]. However, we would not expect that meal frequency pattern prior to the study day would have affected lipogenesis, as recent studies demonstrated no significant difference in plasma lipid, glucose and lipogenesis with subjects placed on various meal frequency patterns, ranging from 1 to 12 meals per day [Jones et al. 1995, Murphy et al. 1996, Bellisle et al. 1997].

In addition, it is unlikely that dramatic dietary differences in fat quality or quantity prior to the study day existed between the 2 groups, as they had similar baseline fasting plasma lipid profile of TG, FFA, total cholesterol, HDL-C, and LDL-C. Fasting plasma total TG has a great influence on postprandial lipemia [Bergeron and Havel 1997], and the 2 groups were matched at baseline to exclude this possible confounding variable. Therefore, a "spill over effect" of previous dietary pattern and meal frequency and size on the outcome of this study is unlikely to have occurred.

Postprandially, as TRL enter the plasma compartment, two interconnected processes are essential for their clearance. The first process requires hydrolysis of the TG core of the TRL releasing FFA and glycerol, and the second requires assimilation of the generated FFA into surrounding tissues [Eckel et al. 1995]. Evidence from this study points out that both processes are enhanced in the post-obese group.

Lipolysis of circulating TRL is controlled by the lipolytic activity of LPL localized to the endothelium, which in turn is regulated by insulin. Fasting adipose tissue LPL activity has been demonstrated to increase with weight loss and stabilization in obese humans [Schwartz and Brunzell 1981, Kern et al. 1990]. Importantly, an intervening period of isocaloric weight stabilization must occur before LPL is measured to avoid the effects of hypocaloric periods on LPL [Eckel and Yost 1987, Eckel et al. 1995], and subjects in this study were weight stable for 6 months prior to the study. Insulin is an important regulator of LPL activity. In healthy normal weight individuals following intake of a mixed meal, insulin secretion stimulates LPL activity [Farese et al. 1991]. In the post-obese state, increased insulin sensitivity, indicated by the lower ratio of plasma insulin to glucose, was demonstrated in several studies [Eckel 1992, Ranneries et al. 1998]. LPL activity was not measured in our study, but insulin sensitivity was, and the product of insulin and glucose was used as an index of sensitivity. Studies have demonstrated that, as insulin sensitivity increased following weight reduction and maintenance, insulin stimulation of fasting and postprandial LPL activity increased as well [Schwart and Brunzell 1981, Kern et al. 1990]. In the present study, evidence of enhanced insulin sensitivity in the post-obese group was demonstrated by a lower serum glucose concentration maintained by an even lower serum insulin concentration. In addition, AUC of total TG, CHYLO-TG, and CHYLO-TG¹³C concentrations correlated positively with AUC of insulin x glucose concentrations, and more so than with AUC of insulin concentration alone. This is compatible with an enhanced insulin sensitivity and LPL activity.

Once FFA are generated by TRL lipolysis, the second process in TRL clearance is assimilation of FFA into the surrounding tissue. This process is regulated by the additive effects of ASP and insulin. It has generally been assumed that the rate-limiting step in TRL clearance is a function of LPL mass and activity available at the endothelium. This has been supported by animal studies that have shown that the amount of cellular uptake of FFA generated from CHYLO is directly related to the activity of LPL in that tissue [Peterson et al. 1990]. However, essential to that assumption is the supposition that the FFA released by LPL activity can be assimilated by the local tissue at the same rate that LPL can generate them and the possibility that the efficiency of cellular assimilation of FFA could be rate limiting should be raised.

An enhanced LPL lipolytic activity must be accompanied by an equal rate of tissue assimilation of the generated FFA for lipolysis to continue, as buildup of FFA would inhibit the LPL activity [Saxena et al. 1989, Peterson et al. 1990, Karpe et al. 1992]. In fact, *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that LPL has a built-in product-control through a negative feedback inhibition mechanism. These studies have demonstrated that FFA can bind to LPL which decreases its affinity for lipoprotein particles, its affinity for heparin-like polysaccharides on the endothelium, and abolishes LPL activation by

apolipoprotein C-II [Bengtsson and Olivecrona 1980, Saxena et al. 1989, Peterson et al. 1990]. Thus, accumulation of FFA beyond the capacity of nearby cells to assimilate would be rate limiting for TRL clearance. In the present study, an enhanced TRL lipolytic rate in the post-obese is also accompanied by an enhanced FFA uptake. This was demonstrated by the finding that postprandial ¹³C concentration in plasma FFA pool was similar at all time points to the fasting non-enriched basal levels, and thus there was far less accumulation of ¹³C in the FFA pool in the post-obese than the controls.

Postprandially, insulin also increases fatty acid uptake into adipose tissue, and with weight loss, higher insulin sensitivity may enhance cellular uptake of FFA generated from TRL hydrolysis [Eckel et al. 1995]. In fact, in the present study, AUC of ¹³C concentration in the plasma FFA pool correlated negatively with higher insulin sensitivity, as indicated by lower plasma insulin x glucose concentration, and more so than with AUC of plasma insulin alone.

The activity of the ASP pathway on cellular uptake and esterification of FFA is determined by the level of ASP present and the cellular responsiveness or sensitivity to ASP. There was a trend for lower fasting and postprandial plasma ASP concentration in the post-obese women. As with insulin, this could reflect a higher cellular sensitivity to plasma ASP in the post-obese. Of interest, as AUC of total TG correlated positively to AUC of plasma insulin x glucose, the index of insulin sensitivity, so did it correlate to AUC of plasma ASP concentration in both groups, which suggests that subjects with higher insulin sensitivity or lower plasma ASP concentration had a faster clearance of plasma total TG. Plasma ASP did not increase in the circulating plasma samples measured in this study, and the % change in postprandial plasma ASP concentration from baseline was similar between the post-obese and the control women. In a recent *in vivo* study, looking at the effect of 2 meals with different fat quality and quantity on postprandial ASP production in healthy normal weight individuals, there was also no change in postprandial plasma ASP with either meal [Charlesworth et al. 1998]. However, recent studies have demonstrated that ASP is produced postprandially, locally in adipose tissue, as there was a positive increase in veno-arterial ASP gradient across a subcutaneous adipose bed [Saleh et al. 1998]. Although again, no change in circulating plasma ASP concentration, the increase in adipose tissue ASP gradient was associated with an increased calculated FFA uptake into the adipose tissue. In addition, it was suggested that the postprandial components that stimulate ASP production were chylomicron and insulin (to a lesser extent). In fact, *in vitro* studies demonstrated that chylomicrons added at physiological concentrations to cultured human adipocytes resulted in 150-fold in ASP production whereas insulin resulted in a 2-fold increase [Scantlebury et al. 1998].

Therefore, the postprandial increase in veno-arterial ASP gradient observed in the previous *in vivo* study may well be limited to the microenvironment around the adipocytes where ASP induces its stimulatory effect on TG synthesis. Nonetheless, higher plasma ASP levels were demonstrated in obese subjects and a positive correlation between plasma ASP and BMI was demonstrated [Cianflone et al. 1995, Maslowska et al. 1999]. Thus, acute changes in ASP production in response to high fat feeding would be better detected in the proximal vicinity of the adipocytes, whereas total plasma circulation might better reflect long term regulation of adipose tissue mass. In fact,

compared to normal weight individuals, postprandial veno-arterial ASP gradient was higher in obese subjects, as was their plasma ASP concentration [personal communication, with Dr. K. Cianflone].

A final point to mention is the target tissue of the LPL generated FFA. Postabsorptive dietary fat has 3 potential destinations: liver, muscle and adipose tissue. Hepatic uptake of ¹³C labeled FFA would eventually be assimilated into TG and resecreted into plasma circulation as VLDL particles, to prevent lipid accumulation within the liver [Sniderman and Cianflone 1993]. We would expect, then, an increase in the VLDL (density fraction $S_f = 20 - 400$) enrichment following the increase in plasma FFA pool enrichment [Binnert et al. 1996]. In the present study, ¹³C concentration in the plasma density fraction $S_f = 20 - 400$ increased prior to increases in plasma FFA pool. Moreover, there was a strong positive correlation between ¹³C concentration in plasma density fraction $S_f = 20 - 400$ and that in plasma density fraction $S_f > 400$. Thus, the early increase in ¹³C concentration observed in plasma density fraction $S_f = 20 - 400$ pool suggests that this pool contains CHYLO remnants [Bjorkegren et al. 1997]. In addition, it is unlikely that the post-obese women had enhanced hepatic TRL clearance as they have normal fasting plasma total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C and ApoB, similar to that of the controls. In any case, there was no difference in the 2 groups studied in the ¹³C concentration in plasma density fraction with $S_f = 20 - 400$.

The second destination of dietary fat could be muscle tissue. Two major sites of LPL-activity exist, skeletal muscles and adipose tissue, both of which are under tissuespecific regulation by insulin [Eckel et al. 1995]. Postprandially, in normal weight healthy individuals, insulin enhances adipose tissue LPL activity and inhibits skeletal muscle LPL activity [Farese et al. 1991]. In the post-obese state, as insulin sensitivity increases so does its tissue specific regulation of LPL, adipose tissue LPL is further increased and skeletal muscle LPL is further inhibited [Eckel et al. 1995]. This suggests that the post-obese are less likely to take up more FFA through direct muscle LPL activity. Although ¹³C enrichment increased in breath CO₂, we cannot distinguish whether the ¹³C fatty acids oxidized were derived from skeletal muscle LPL activity or adipose tissue LPL activity. In addition, energy expenditure, carbohydrate/fat oxidation and ¹³C concentration in breath CO₂ were similar in both groups, which would suggest equal substrate utilization in the muscle tissue between the two groups.

The third potential destination of dietary fat is adipose tissue. Adipose tissue is by far the largest fat depot in the body, and its capacity to store fat is unlimited. ASP is a product of adipose tissue, and its greatest effect on TG synthesis is in adipocytes. Thus, in the post-obese state, an enhanced adipose tissue LPL activity closely coordinated with an enhanced ASP and insulin sensitivity would inevitably channel the dietary fat into the adipose tissue.

The data in this study support the findings in other studies where no difference, between the post-obese subjects and their matched controls, in fasting or postprandial REE, TEF or carbohydrate/fat oxidation rate were detected [Hervey and Tobin 1983, de Peuter 1992, Weinsier et al. 1995, Burnstein et al. 1995]. These metabolic factors have been implicated in the tendency of post-obese to regain weight and thus reestablish the obesity state. However, energy imbalance, between intake and expenditure, only needs to shifted by a small fraction for the cumulative effect to result in obesity. The fattest man in the world died recently in his mid-forties weighing 465 kg. Even this enormous body fat accumulation requires only an excess intake of as little as a small bar of chocolate every day [Prentice 1997]. Thus, the small differences in energy balance that may exist in the post-obese state could be well beyond the limits of detection of most metabolic measurements limited to the study's length of time. The average intake of North Americans is 3 to 4 meals per day with 35-40% of energy furnished by fat [for review Golay and Bobbioni 1997]. Thus, a synergic effect of consecutive meals, particularly high in energy or fat content, along with an enhanced adipose tissue lipogenesis induced by an enhanced adipose tissue LPL, ASP and insulin activity, could sustain a state of constant push on the adipose tissue fat storage, not counterbalanced by an increased energy expenditure, would progressively and inevitably induce weight regain in the postobese individuals.

In conclusion, data in this study do not support conclusions of previous studies that the differences between the post-obese women and their matched controls are represented by differences in their energy expenditure, thermic effect of food or substrate utilization [Shah et al. 1988, Astrup et al. 1993, Astrup et al. 1994, Ranneries et al. 1998]. This study casts light on a novel finding of metabolic differences that exist in the postobese women. These differences are represented by an enhanced plasma clearance of the exogenous fat source, which is indicated by a faster hydrolysis of the circulating TRL accompanied by a faster tissue uptake of the generated labeled FFA, findings which are compatible with an increased sensitivity to insulin and the ASP pathway.

CHAPTER FIVE REFERENCES

- Astrup A, Buemann B, Christensen N, and Toubro S. 1994. Failure to increase lipid oxidation in response to increasing dietary fat content in formerly obese women.
 Am. J. Physiol. 266 (Endocrinol. Metab. 29): E592-E599.
- Astrup A. 1993. Dietary composition, substrate balances and body fat in subjects with predisposition to obesity. Int. J. Obes. 17 (Suppl 3): S32-S36.
- Baldo A, Sniderman A, St-Luce S, Avramoglu R, Maslowska M, Hoang B, Monge J, Bell M, and Cianflone K. 1993. The adipsin-acylation stimulating protein system and regulation of intracellular triglyceride synthesis. J. Clin. Invest. 92: 1543-1547.
- Behrns K, and Sarr M. 1994. Advances in Surgery. Mosby Year book, Inc. USA.
- Bellisle F, McDevitt R, and Prentice A. 1997. Meal frequency and energy balance. Br. J. Nutr. 77 (Suppl 1): S57-70.
- Benotti PN, and Forse A. 1995. The role of gastric surgery in the multidisciplinary management of severe obesity. Am. J. Surg. 169: 361-367.
- Bergeron N, and Havel R. 1997. Assessment of postprandial lipemia: Nutritional influences. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 8: 43-52.
- Beylot M. 1994. The use of stable isotopes and mass spectrometry in studying lipid metabolism. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 53: 355-362.
- Binnert C, Laville M, Pachiaudi C, Rigalleau V, and Beylot M. 1995. Use of gas chromatography/Isotope ratio mass spectrometry to study triglyceride metabolism in humans. Lipids 30(9): 869-873.

- Binnert C, Pachiaudi M, Beylot M, Croset M, Cohen R, Riou JP, and Laville M. 1996. Metabolic fate of an oral long-chain triglyceride load in humans. Am. J. Physiol. 270: E445-E450.
- Binnert C, Pachiaudi M, Beylot M, Hans D, Vandermander J, Chantre P, Riou J, and Laville M. 1998. Influence of human obesity on the metabolism of long- and medium chain triacylglycerols. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 67(4): 595-601.
- Birmingham CL, Muller JL, Palepu A, Spinelli JJ, and Anis AH. 1999. The cost of obesity in Canada. CMAJ. 160(4): 483-488.
- Bisdee J, James W, and Shaw M. 1989. Changes in energy expenditure during the menstrual cycle. Br. J. Nutr. 61(2): 187-199.
- Bjorkegren J, Hamsten A, Milne RW, and Karpe F. 1997. Alterations of VLDL composition during alimentary lipemia. J. Lipid Res. 38: 301-314.
- Burstein R, Prentice A, Goldberg G, Murgarlroyd P, Harding M, and Coward W. 1995. Metabolic fuel utilization in obese women before and after weight loss. Int. J. Obes. Rel. Metab. Disord. 20(3): 353-259.
- Cham JM, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB, Willett WC, and Golditz GA. 1994. Obesity, fat distribution and weight gain as a risk factor for clinical diabetes mellitus in men. Diabetes Care. 17: 961-969.
- Charlesworth JA, Pcake PW, Campell LV, Pussell BA, Grady SO, and Tzilopoulos T. 1998. The influence of oral lipid loads on acylation stimulating protein (ASP) in healthy volunteers. Int. J. Obes. 22: 1096-1102.

- Christie WW, Moore JH, Lorimer AR, and Lawrie TD. 1971. The structure of triglycerides from atherosclerotic plaques and other human tissues. Lipids 6(11): 854-856.
- Cianflone K, Kwiterovich P, Walsh M, Rodriguez M, and Sniderman A. 1987. Stimulating of fatty acid uptake and triglycerides synthesis in human culture skin fibroblasts and adipoytes by a serum protein. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 144: 94-100.
- Cianflone K, Sniderman A, Walsh M, Vu H, Gagnon J, and Rodriguez MA. 1989. Purification and characterization of acylation stimulating protein. J. Biol. Chem. 264: 426-430.
- Cianflone K, Roncari D, Maslowska M, Baldo A, Forden J, and Sniderman A. 1994. Adipsin/Acylation Stimulating Protein system in human adipocytes: regulation of triglycerol synthesis. Biochemistry 33(32): 9489-9495.
- Cianflone K, and Maslowska M. 1995. Differentiation-induced production of ASP in human adipocytes. Euro. J. Clin. Invest. 25: 817-825.
- Cianflone K, Kalant D, Marliss E, Gougeon R, and Sniderman A. 1995. Response of plasma ASP to a prolonged fast. Inl. J. Obes. 19: 604-609.
- Ciaraldi T, Kolterman O, and Olefsky J. 1981. Mechanism of the postreceptor defect in human obese. J. Clin. Invest. 68: 875-880.
- Colditz GA, Willett WC, Rotnitzky A, and Manson JE. 1995. Weight gain as a risk factor for clinical diabetes mellitus in women. Ann. Intern. Med. 122: 481-486.
- Cunningham JJ. 1990. Calculation of energy expenditure from indirect calorimetry: assessment of the Weir equation. Nutrition 6(3): 222-230.

- Dattilo AM, and Kris-Etherton PM.1992. Effects of weight reduction on blood lipids and lipoproteins: a meta analysis. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 56: 320-328.
- De Peuter R, Wilters R, Brinkman M, Thomas F, and Clark D. 1992. No difference in rates of energy expenditure between post-obese women and their matched lean controls. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 16(10): 801-808.
- Donald C, and Ralph A. 1990. Indirect calorimentry: methodological and interpretive problems. Am. J. Physiol. 258 (Endocrinol. Metab. 21): E 399-E412.
- Eckel RH, and Yost TJ. 1987. Weight reduction increases adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase responsiveness in obese women. J. Clin. Invest. 80: 992-997.
- Eckel RH. 1989. Lipoprotein lipase, a multifactorial enzyme relevant to common metabolic diseases. N. Engl. J. Med. 320: 1060-1068.
- Eckel RH. 1992. Insulin resistance: an adaptation for weight maintenance. Lancet 340: 1452-1453.
- Eckel RH, Yost TJ, and Jensen DR. 1995. Alteration in lipoprotein lipase in insulin resistance. Int. J. Obes. 19 (Suppl 1): S16-S21.
- Farese RV, Yost TJ, and Eckel RH. 1991. Tissue-specific regulation of lipoprotein lipase activity by insulin/glucose in normal-weight humans. Metabolism 40: 214-216.
- Franssila-Kallunki A, Rissanen A, Ekstraud A, Ollus A, and Groop L. 1992. Effect of weight loss on substrate oxidation, energy expenditure and insulin sensitivity in obese individuals. Am. J. €lin. Nutr. 55: 356-361.
- Garfinkel L. 1985. Overweight and cancer. Ann. Intern. Med. 103: 1034-1036.
- Geissler C, Miller D, and Shah M. 1987. The daily metabolic rate of the post-obese and lean. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45: 914-920.

- Germinario R, Sniderman A, Manuel S, Lefebvre S, Baldo A, and Cianflone K. 1993. Coordinate regulation of triglycerol synthesis and glucose transport by Acylation-Stimulating Protein. Metabolism 42(5): 574-580.
- Gidez LI, Miller GJ, Burstein M, Slagle S, and Eder HA. 1982. Separation and quantitation of subclasses of human plasma high density lipoproteins by a simple precipitation procedure. J. Lipid Res. 23: 1206-1223.
- Golay A, and Bobbioni E. 1997. The role of dietary fat in obesity. Int. J. Obes. Metab. Disord. 21(Suppl 3): S2-S11.
- Gustavsson S, Ilstrup DM, and Morrison P. 1988. Roux-Y statis syndrome after gastrectomy. Am. J. Surg. 155: 490-494.
- Harmelen VV, Reynisdottir S, Cianflone K, Degerman E, Hoffstedt J, Nilsell K,
 Sniderman A, and Arner P. 1999. Regulation of free fatty acid esterification by
 acylation stimulating protein (ASP) and insulin in isolated human fat cells:
 Important role of phosphodiesterases. J. Biol. Chem. in press.
- Hervey G, and Tobin G. 1983. The regulation of energy balance. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 8: 1-21.
- Hodge A, and Zimenet P. 1994. The epidemiology of obesity. Baillieres Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 8(3): 577-599.
- Horowitz M, Cook DJ, Collins PJ, Harding PE, Hooper MJ, Walsh JF, and Shearman DJ. 1982. Measurement of gastric emptying after gastric bypass surgery using radionucleotides. Br. J. Surg. 69(11): 655-657.
- Irving C, Wong W, Shulman R, O'Brian Smith K, and Klein P. 1983. [¹³C] bicarbonate kinetics in humans: Intra vs interindividual variations. Am. J. Physiol. 245: R190-202.

- Jones P, Pencharz P, and Clandinin M. 1985. Whole body oxidation of dietary fatty acids: implications for energy utilization. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 42(5): 769-777.
- Jones P, Hunt M, Brown T, and Norgan N. 1986. Waist and hip circumference ratio and its relationship to age and overweight in British men. Hum. Nutr. Clin. Nutr. 40C: 239-247.
- Jones P, Namchuk G, and Pederson R. 1995. Meal frequency influences circulating hormone levels but not lipogenesis rates in humans. Metabolism 44(2): 218-223.
- Jung RT. 1997. Obesity as a disease. Br. Med. Bull. 53(2): 307-321.
- Karpe F, Olivecrona T, Walldrus G, and Hamsten A. 1992. Lipoprotein lipase in plasma after an oral fat load: relation to free fatty acids. J. Lipid Res. 33: 975-984.
- Kashiwagi A, Bogardus C, and Lillioga S. 1984. In vitro insensitivity of glucose transport and antilipolysis to insulin due to receptor and postreceptor abnormalities in obese Pima Indians with normal glucose tolerance. Metabolism 33: 772-776.
- Kern P, Ong J, Saffari B, and Carty J. 1990. The effect of weight loss on the activity and expression of adipose-tissue lipoprotein lipase in very obese humans. N. Eng. J. Med. 322(15): 1053-1059.
- Khaled MA, McCutcheon MJ, Reddy S, Pearman PL, Hunter GR, and Weinsier RL. 1988. Electrical impedance in assessing human body composition: the BIA method. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 47: 789-792.
- Kissebah A, Freedman D, and Peiris A. 1989. Health risk in obesity. Med. Clin. North Am. 73:111-138.
- Kissebah A, and Krakower G. 1994. Regional adiposity and morbidity. Am. J. Physiol. 74(4): 761-810.

- Klain J, Fraser D, and Goldstein J. 1989. Liver histology abnormalities in the morbidly obese. Hepatology 10:873-876.
- Maslowska M, Scantlebury T, Germinario R, and Cianflone K. 1997. Acute in vitro production of acylation protein in differentiated human adipocytes. J. Lipid Res. 38: 1-11.
- Maslowska M, Sniderman A, Germinario R, and Cianflone K. 1997. ASP stimulates glucose transport in cultured human adipocytes. Int. J. Obes. 21: 261-266.
- Maslowska M, Vu H, Phelis S, Sniderman A, Rhodes B, Blank D, and Cianflone K. 1999. Plasma ASP, adipsin, and lipids in non-obese and obese populations. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. in press.
- Murphy M, Insherwood S, Gould B, Wright J, Knapper J, and William C. 1995. Postprandial lipid and hormone responses to meals of varying fat contents: modulatory role of lipoprotein lipase? Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 49: 579-588.
- Murphy M, Chapman C, Lovegrove J, Isherwood S, Morgan L, Wright J, and Williams
 C. 1996. Meal frequency; does it determine postprandial lipaemia? Eur. J. Clin.
 Nutr. 50(8): 491-497.
- National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), Office of Health Research, Statistics and Technology. 1981. Plan and operation of the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1976-1980. (Vital and health statistics: Series 1, no. 15). DHEW publication: no. (PHS) 81-1317, Washington, D. C.
- Olivecrona T, and Bengtsson-Olivesrona G. 1990. Lipoprotein and hepatic lipase. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 1: 222-230.

- Pagana K, and Pagana T. 1997. Diagnostic and laboratory test reference. Third edition. Mosby – Year book, Inc. USA.
- Peterson J, Bihain B, Bengtsson-Olivecrona G, Deckelbaum R, Carpenter Y, and Alivecrona T. 1990. Fatty acid control of lipoprotein lipase: A link between energy metabolism and lipid transport. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 87: 909-913.
- Prentice AM. 1997. Obesity the inevitable penalty of civilization. Br. Med. Bull. 53(2): 229-237.
- Raben A, Christensen NJ, and Astrup A. 1993. Postprandial responses in substrate oxidation and appetite in post-obese subjects. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 17 (Suppl 3): S37-S40.
- Raben A, Andersen H, Christensen N, Madsen J, Holst J, and Atrup A. 1994. Evidence for an abnormal postprandial response to a high-fat meal in women predisposed to obesity. Am. J. Physiol. 267 (Endocrinol. Metab. 30): E549-E559.
- Ranneries C, Bulow J, Buemann B, Christensen N, Madsen J, and Astrup A. 1998. Fat metabolism in formerly obese women. Am. J. Physiol. 274 (Endocrinol. Metab. 37): E155-E161.
- Reed G, and Hill J. 1996. Measurement of thermic effect of food. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 63: 164-169.
- Reeder BA, Angal A, and Ledoux M. 1992. Obesity and its relation to cardiovascular disease factors in Canadian adults. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 146: 2009-2019.
- Reisen E, Abel R, Modan M, Silverberg DS, Eliahou HE, and Modan B. 1978. The effect of weight loss without salt restriction on the reduction in blood pressure in overweight hypertensive patients. N. Eng. J. Med. 298: 1-6.

- Rimm AA, Werner LH, Van Yserloo B, and Bernstein RA. 1975. Relation of obesity and disease in 73,532 weight conscious women. Public Health Rep. 90: 44-51.
- Ritenbaugh C. 1982. Obesity as a culture-bound syndrome. Cult. Med. Psychiatry 6: 347-361.
- Rudolph L, Hirsch J, and Hirsch L. 1984. Diminished energy requirements in reducedobese patients. Metabolism 33(2): 164-170.
- Saleh J, Summers L, Cianflone K, Fielding B, Sniderman A, and Frayn K. 1998. Coordinated release of acylation stimulating protein (ASP) and triacylglycerol clearance by human adipose tissue in vivo in the postprandial period. J. Lipid Res. 39: 884-891.
- Saxena U, Witte LD, and Goldberg IJ. 1989. Release of endothelial cell lipoprotein lipase by plasma lipoproteins and free fatty acids. J. Biol. Chem. 264: 4349-4355.
- Scantlebury T, Maslowska M, and Cianflone K. 1998. Chylomicron-specific enhancement of Acylation stimulating protein and precursor protein C3 production in differentiated human adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 273(33): 22903-22909.
- Schectman G, Patsches M, and Sasse EA. 1996. Variability in cholesterol measurements: comparison of calculated and direct LDL cholesterol determinations. Clin. Chem. 42(5): 732-737.
- Schoeller DA, Klein PD, Watkins JB, Heim T, and MacLean Jr. WC. 1980. ¹³C abundances of nutrients and the effect of variations in ¹³C isotopic abundances of test meals formulated for ¹³CO₂ breath tests. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 33: 2375-2385.



- Schutz Y, Tremblay A, Weinser R, and Nelson K. 1991. Role of fat oxidation in the long term stabilization of body weight in obese women. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 55: 670-674.
- Schwartz R, and Brunzell J. 1981. Increase of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase activity with weight loss. J. Clin. Invest. 67: 1425-1430.
- Shah M, Miller D, and Geissler C. 1988. Lower metabolic rates of post-obese versus lean women: thermogenesis, basal metabolic rate, and genetics. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 42: 741-752.
- Shinton R, Shimpley M, and Rose G. 1991. Overweight and stroke in the whiteball study. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 45:138-142.
- Sniderman A, Cianflone K, and Eckel R. 1991. Levels of Acylation Stimulating Protein in obese women before and after moderate weight loss. Int. J. Obes. 15: 333-336.
- Sniderman A, and Cianflone K. 1993. Substrate delivery as a determinant of hepatic ApoB secretion. Arterioscler. Thromb. 13(5): 629-636.
- Sniderman A, and Cianflone K. 1994. The adipsin-ASP pathway and regulation of adipocyte function. Ann. Med. 26: 389-393.
- Toubro S, Western P, Bulow J, Macdonald I, and Raben A. 1994. Insulin sensitivity in post-obese women. Clin. Sci. 87: 407-413.
- Walsh M, Sniderman A, Cianflone K, Vu H, Rodriguez M, and Forse RA. 1989. The effect of ASP on the adipocyte of the morbidly obese. J. Surg. Res. 46: 470-473.
- Wang Y, Moss J, and Thisted R. 1992. Predictors of body surface area. J. Clin. Anesth. 4(1): 4-10.

- Webb P. 1987. 24 hour energy expenditure and menstrual cycle. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 44(5): 614-619.
- Weinsier R, Nelson K, Hensrud D, Darnell B, Hunter G, and Schutz Y. 1995. Metabolic Predictors of Obesity. Contribution of resting energy expenditure, thermic effect of food, and fuel utilization to four-year weight gain of post-obese and neverobese women. J. Clin. Invest. 95(3): 980-985.
- Willem GL, and Vergroesen AJ. 1994. Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease. Eighth edition. Lea and Febiger. USA.
- Willet WC, Manson JE, and Stampter MJ. 1995. Weight change and coronary heart disease in women. JAMA 27: 1461-1465.
- Williamson DF, Pamuk E, Thun M, Flanders D, Byers T, and Heath C. 1995. Prospective study of intentional weight loss and mortality in never smoking overweight US white women aged 40-64 years. Am. J. Epidemiol. 141: 1128-1141.
- Wing RR, Shoemaker M, Marcus MD, McDermott M, and Gooding W. 1990. Variables associated with weight loss and improvements in glycemic control in type 2 diabetes patients. Arch. Intern. Med. 147: 1749-1753.
- Wolf AM, and Colitx GA. 1994. The cost of obesity, the US perspective. Pharmaeconomics. 5(Suppl 1): 34-7.
- Wolfe RR. 1992. Radioactive and stable isotope tracers in biomedicine: principles and practice of kinetic analysis. Wiley-Liss, USA.
- World Health Organization 1985. (Diabetes mellitus). Report of a WHO study group. Technical Report Series No. 727. Geneva: World Health Organization.

- Yasruel Z, Cianflone K, Sniderman A, Rosenbloom M, Walsh M, and Rodriguez M. 1991. Effect of Acylation Stimulating Protein on the triacylglycerol synthesis pathway on human adipose tissue. Lipids 26(7): 495-499.
- Yuzhen T, Cianflone K, Sniderman A, Colby-Germinario S, and Germinario R. 1996. Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) regulates glucose transport in the rat L6 muscle cell line. Biochem. Biophys. Acta. 1344: 221-229.
- Zeman FJ. 1991. Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics. Second edition. Macmillan publication company. USA.

CHAPTER SIX APPENDICES

Appendix A. Baseline Questionnaire

Royal Victoria Hospital Cardiovascular Research Unit

STUDY OF POSTPRANDIAL PLASMA ACYLATION STIMULATING PROTEIN RESPONSE AND FAT METABOLISM FOLLOWING THE INGESTION OF A ¹³C-LABELED HIGH FAT MEAL

Baseline Measurements Questionnaire

Date:		Family name:		First name:	19
Date of birth:		Tel #:		Hospital # :	
Address:					<u></u>
Age:	Ht:	Wt:	BM	I: BSA:	
% B. Fat:	Fat m	ass:	FFM:	W/H ratio	D:

	Yes	No	Comments
Smoker?			# / day?
Alcohol?			Servings/ day?
Regular menstrual cycle?		[When did the last cycle end?
Weight stable (4.5 kg/ 6 months)?			
Level of Physical activity?*		tary	Light activity Moderate activity Very active
Lactose intolerance?			
Gastrointestinal symptoms after food consumption? (Sweating, diarrhea, faint, nausea.			
vomiting. palpitations)	ļ		
Have any of the following disorders:			
CVD, HTN, hyperlipidemia, DM, hypoglycemia, GI, pulmonary, liver, thyroid or other endocrine disorders?			
Medications? Pill? Hormones?			

*Sedentary: usually under the care of others, minimal activity like watching TV, reading...

Light activity: Most house wives, office workers, lawyers, doctors, teachers, drivers, lab technicians...

Moderate: Light industry, electrical, carpeting...If light activity, must exercise 1.5-2 hr/d to have moderate activity Very active: Full time athletes, heavy laborers,... Appendix B. Study Design

Study Design



Calorimetry : From indirect calorimetry, REE, TEF and carbohydrate/ fat oxidation rate were measured

Breath : From breath samples, ¹³C enrichment in breath CO₂ was measured.

Blood : From blood samples, plasma ASP, total TG, CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG, FFA, serum glucose and insulin concentrations, in addition to ¹³C concentration in CHYLO-TG, VLDL-TG and FFA pools were measured.

* for measurement of fasting total plasma cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C and ApoB.

(N.B. Anthropometric measurements of Wt, Ht, % body fat, W/H ratio were conducted before the 15 min rest)